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Kinvara Company 1916 - 2016
Eilish Kavanagh

To hallow or accurse the scenes of glory and honour, or of shame and sorrow; to give to 
the imagination the arms, and homes, and senates, and battles, of other days; to rouse, 
and soften, and strengthen, and enlarge us with the passions of great periods: to lead us 
into love of self-denial, of justice, of beauty, of valour, of generous life and proud death; 
and to set up in our souls the memory of great men, who shall then be as models and 
judges of our actions: these are the highest duties of history�1

Thomas Davis

Introduction

It is far from straightforward to identify the individuals who were involved in 
the Kinvara Company and to ascertain what actually happened at the time of 
the 1916 Rising. This chapter presents a list of names obtained from witness 

statements, the Roll of Honour, pension applications and those mentioned in the 
Sinn FØin Rebellion Handbook. Using all these resources, it then chronicles the 
events of Easter Week 1916 in Kinvara. Some people, like Thomas McInerney, 
enlisted in other companies but remained living in the area and played a significant 
role in their Rising. Others, like Fr John O�Meehan, the local priest and recruiter 
who played a pivotal role in the overall Galway Rising, subsequently died without 
leaving any account of their involvement, except by being mentioned in statements 
provided by others.

Kinvara Company 1916
1. Burke, (Jack) John, 
Cahermore.

11. Hanbury, Pat, 
Dunguaire.

20. Kilkelly, Michael, 
Doorus.

28. Picker, (Jim) James, 
Cahernamaddra and 
Kinvara West.

2. Burke, Paddy, the 
Square.

12. Hanbury, John, 
Dunguaire.

21. Kilkelly, (Mickela) 
Michael, Tawnagh and 
Doorus Demesne.

29. Quinn, Patrick, 
Tawnagh.

3. Burke, (Coisín) 
Patrick, Loughcurra.

13. Hanlon, David, 
Loughcurra.

22. Kilkelly, Padraig, 
Tawnagh and Doorus 
Demesne.

30. Quinn, William, 
Caherawoneen.

4. Burke, Peter, 
Cahermore.

14. Hanlon, Michael, 
Crushoa.

23. Kilkelly, Joseph, 
Tawnagh and Doorus 
Demesne.

31. Reidy, John J, 
Tawnagh and Doorus 
Demesne.

5. Callinan, John, 
Loughcurra.

15. Higgins, Mary, 
Ardrahan.

24. Kilkelly, (Mhicíl) 
Tommie, Crushua.

32. Reidy, (Tommie) 
�omas, Tawnagh and 
Doorus Demesne.

6. Connolly, John, 
Gortaboy.

16. Hynes, (Martín) 
Martin, the Glebe, 
Kinvara.

25. Leech, Stephen, 
Loughcurra.

33. Staunton, (Mick) 
Michael, Cloonasee.
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7. Davenport, 
(SØamus) James; 
Kinvara town, near 
Quay.

17. Hynes, (Mikie) 
Michael, Dunguaire.

26. McCormack, 
Edward, Kinvara.

34. Whelan, (Jim) 
James, Mountscribe 
and later Tawnagh.

8. Fahy, John, 
Caherawoneen.

18. Keane, Michael, 
Ballyclera.

27. McInerney, (Tom) 
�omas, Cahermore.

35. Whelan, (Sean/
Jack) John, Doorus

9. Fahy, PJ, Kinvara. 19. Kilkelly, (Sean 
Wally) John, Crushoa.

10. Glynn, John, 
Neptune Vale, Doorus.

Figure 9.1 The above names were compiled from the Military Archives, Roll of Honour and Sinn FØin Rebellion 
Handbook. Although the number in some statements was quoted as forty, confirmation of more than thirty-five 
names was not possible.  Fr John William O�Meehan is not on this list. There is only one Cumann na mBan name 
listed: Mary Higgins, Ardrahan.

Background

In the years prior to the 1916 Rising, Kinvara, not unlike other parishes in the west 
of Ireland, was concerned with several anti-establishment systems and practices, 
such as agrarian agitation, revival of Irish traditions, language and literature, 
and the development and promotion of new societies such as the Gaelic Athletic 
Association (GAA). Perhaps this was of little wonder when considering that 
people like Edward Martyn (co-founder of Sein FØin), Lady Gregory and W.B. 
Yeats frequented the area regularly; Michael Cusack, the man accorded with the 
establishment of the GAA, was born within 18km from Kinvara; Irish was the 
spoken language; there was boycotting and there were frequent cattle drives, which 
often ended in arrests and court appearances. Indeed, some of these cattle drives 
even merited a special court session which, in turn, attracted several spectators 
to the occasion. One such case reported in the Freeman�s Journal in 1910 gives an 
indication of the extent of such occurrences:

At a special Court in Kinvara today, before Mr Kilbride, RM, fourteen men 
were charged by District-Inspector Cruise with taking part in a cattle drive 
on the previous Thursday� Mr Kilbride [remanding them on bail] said that 
he would except a reduced bail� Twelve of the defendants refused� and 
were sent to jail for a month each�2

The article continues by stating �they were loudly cheered by the crowd� and 
concludes with �Several cattle drives have taken place in the district recently, and 
over 50 persons are at present bound over to the peace for taking part in them�. 
Furthermore, Kinvara Hurling Club held a meeting on 1 April 1911 to collect in 
aid of the club and �also to defray the expense of the Moy cattle drivers.�3 The 
list of GAA activists within the club includes many of the same surnames those 
who would later become known as Kinvara Company during 1916. Perhaps, it 
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is not surprising in such circumstances that a new local curate, Fr John William 
O�Meehan, managed to fuel this growing sense of nationalism. 

Born in 1881 in the parish of Clarinbridge, Co. Galway, John O�Meehan was ordained 
a priest in 1906. He spent two years studying in Maynooth for his BD degree and it 
was from here, according to his sister Mary Leech, that �during those two years he 
frequently visited Dublin and spent much of his time in the company of Padraig 
Pearse and Arthur Grif�th and others who later became leaders in the Independence 
Movement�.4 In July 1915, he was appointed senior Catholic Curate in Kinvara, and 
from then on he appears to have become an important contributor to the Rising in 
Galway. Notably, his sister concludes her witness statement in 1954 with, �I heard my 
brother, Father John, say that it was he who advised the leaders in Dublin to organise 
the West and that was the reason Liam Mellows was sent�.5 In the summer of 1915, Fr 
John O�Meehan actively recruited many of the young men in the area, �the strength 
was about 40�6 and considered by many to be a �strong company�.7

Kinvara Company 1916

Almost all of the young men recruited by Fr O�Meehan had a father or grandfather 
active in the Land League and/or the United Irish League. They valued and educated 
themselves in both the Irish language and Irish history.8 So, unsurprisingly, the 
census of 1911 lists most residents in the townlands of Kinvara as having both the 
English and Irish language, even though this had sometimes caused con�ict with 

Figure 9.2 Photograph courtesy of Thomas Quinn. This photograph was taken during the War of Independence; 
it shows men who served in Kinvara Coy 1916. Sitting on the left: Bertie Quinn, Padraig Fahy. Sitting at the table: 
Seamus Davenport, Joe Kilkelly. Standing Tommie Reidy, Tommy Quinn, Michael Mikie Hynes.
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local Royal Irish Constabulary (RIC).9 
A good example of this was Volunteer 
Michael Hynes�s grandfather, who was 
�prosecuted and �ned for having his 
name in Irish on a common cart� and 
although �the �ne was one penny � it 
was never paid�.10 Naturally, a popular 
ballad written about the incident to 
the tune of �the Auld Plaid Shawl� soon 
followed.11 It would seem that these 
patriotic leanings �ltered down to many 
of the young men of Kinvara and they 
were reading literature such as Scissors 
and Paste and Nationality provided by 
Fr O�Meehan. This ensured enough 

Figure 9.3 This picture shows an RIC constable 
standing at the corner watching the events of 

the day. Photograph from exhibition courtesy of 
Thomas Quinn.

Figure 9.4 Thomas McInerney from Cahermore, 
Kinvara, taken during War of Independence. 

Photograph courtesy of Micko McInerney, 
Thomas�s son.



- 174 -

sentiment and excitement for any young man to consider becoming active in a 
paramilitary organisation.

One such man was Thomas McInerney, born in Cahermore, Kinvara, Co. Galway 
in 1883. He became the �seventh generation of blacksmith � and shod the Galway 
Blazers for eight years�.12 He worked for Tom Kenny, a prominent Sinn FØin 
activist and reviver of an old agrarian secret society. Kenny not only taught him 
his trade but also swore him into �the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB) in the 
year 1906�.13 He soon became operational and took part in what he describes as 
�incidents�. McInerney may have regretted this earlier activity for he would not 
speak about it later in life. Something changed and he ceased to work for Kenny 
sometime around Christmas 1914 and returned home to Cahermore. Once home 
he began to organise the IRB in his own locality and before long had a cluster in 
many of the surrounding parishes. Also around this time, he joined the Ardrahan 
Company of the Irish Volunteers and soon came to prominence. Early in 1916, 
McInerney was appointed Brigade Scout by Liam Mellows, a man he admired. 
Matthew Kelly deliberates in his review of Fergus Campbell�s book Land and 
Revolution: Nationalist Politics in the West of Ireland, 1891-1921 that:

Kennyite traditions combined with Mellows� training ensured the East 
Galway Volunteers were amongst the most active during the Easter Rising.14

McInerney himself certainly was. While awaiting orders on the impending Rising 
in Dublin, he and sixteen of his company from Ardrahan mobilised at Early�s Wood 
near Peterswell on Easter Sunday - only to be stood down that evening. Late Monday 
or early Tuesday morning they were once again alerted to mobilise and McInerney 
proceeded to implement his part in the plan of action. He was to move around 

the various companies 
once the Rising began and 
remained in touch with 
them throughout the week, 
giving and receiving any 
reports or orders. He was 
also to report on any and 
all activity by both the 
RIC and the British army. 
He was well known by the 
RIC in some areas, such as 
Clarinbridge, so he had to 
use another local man to 
scout for him. It was just 
such information from one 

Figure 9.5 Foy�s (Seapark House) abandoned house. Here many 
of Kinvara Company awaited orders. The house was once used as 
a fever hospital during the famine, established by Dr Denis Hynes. 
Photograph courtesy of Eilish Kavanagh.
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of these scouts that led McInerney back to Kinvara; his involvement in the Rising 
was in full swing.

Meanwhile in Kinvara, Fr O�Meehan was unaware of MacNeill�s countermand; he 
was preparing the company for what lay ahead. He ordered them into full uniform, 
which were only the hats he had provided for them, and to attend the sacraments of 
Easter. The hats mentioned in almost all witness statements or pension applications 
appear to have uni�ed the company and validated their cause, and thereby primed 
them for the Rising. Thomas Reidy, in a statement on the movements of Kinvara 
Company at that time, recalled:

Father O�Meehan got the company to go to Holy Communion on Sunday. 
He was a leading member. He was in touch with the leaders at the time, very 
prominently in touch with them, and he got all the Kinvara Company to go 
to Confession on Saturday and parade at church on Easter Sunday morning, 
which they did. On Monday morning they mobilised; the captain, John 
Burke, directed them where to go, and to seize what arms they could get from 
the labouring people � they had a list beforehand of the arms�15

The men gathered at Foy�s house 
on the outskirts of Kinvara, ready 
for orders. Meanwhile, Captain 
John Burke and a small company 
marched to Earley�s Wood to 
learn the objectives and receive 
orders. It was here they learned 
of the countermand by MacNeill. 
Despite this, it would seem from 
reading the witness statements, 
there was some confusion over the 
countermand. O�Meehan, whom 
the men trusted, was in touch with 
Mellows directly and was giving 
them orders on mobilising; he did 
not trust the countermand and was 
reluctant to have the men stand 
down.16 He was to secure further 
instructions from Clarinbridge 
over the next few hours.

However, after the period of 
what appears to be commands, 

Figure 9.6 Drawing by Thomas Quinn depicting the RIC 
waiting in a small grove outside Fr O�Meehan�s house. This 
picture was used in schools to portray events of Easter 
Tuesday 1916.
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countermands, cancellations and postponements, the order for mobilisation 
�nally came. At 1 o�clock, on the Tuesday morning, Liam Mellows sent Padraig 
Fahy, Tom O�Dea and Martin (Sonny) Morrissey to inform Fr O�Meehan that 
the Rising had begun in Dublin. Therefore, he should re-mobilise the Kinvara 
Company and return with Fahy to serve as Quarter Master.17 Unfortunately, the 
RIC in Kinvara having been alerted to something happening and were patrolling 
the area. Knowing he was being watched for some time, Fr O�Meehan was not 
at home. When the men arrived at Delamain Lodge, residence of the priest, his 
housekeeper told them of this but had no idea where he was hiding. Out of a small 
grove to the side of the lodge, the RIC stepped forward. O�Dea, trying to disguise 
their true intent, gave a false name, told the constables that he was there for a sick 
call, and needed a priest. The constables were not deceived and a struggle began. 
Shots were exchanged and Fahy, unlike his comrades who managed to get away 
under gun�re, was restrained and arrested. After a brief custody in Kinvara, he 
was taken to Gort barracks, then to Limerick Jail and on to Richmond barracks.18 
Sergeant Thomas Reilly, the man who arrested Fahy and gave evidence against 
him, would later get one of only �four medals awarded to the RIC for gallantry 
during the Easter Rising of 1916�.19 It appears that this incident has the notability 
of being the �rst shots in Co. Galway of Easter Week.20 Reilly and his colleagues 
abandoned the RIC barracks in Kinvara that same night in an effort to thwart the 
rebels who they believed were now attacking other barracks in the area.

Following this, it was not until at least 4 pm Tuesday evening that Fr O�Meehan 
received a dispatch telling him to mobilise the Kinvara Company. Yet,

It was not until Wednesday morning that I heard of the Rising in Dublin. It 
was Volunteer Padraig Kilkelly who brought me word and at the same time 
told me to go at once to Clonasee where our company was mobilising. When I 
got the Clonasee, most of the company had already assembled there.21

Signi�cantly, at this point O�Meehan did not 
hold back. According to Michael Hynes,

Father O�Meehan addressed the company, saying 
that the Rising was on in Dublin and that our 
company would very soon be engaged in the fight 
and that very likely some of us would be going 
to our deaths. He then said that if any Volunteer 
wished to leave he could do so and that nobody 
would think bad of him for doing so. � Nobody 
stepped out of the ranks.22

Figure 9.7 Medal 
received by Sgt 

Thomas Reilly, for 
his part in arresting 

Padraig Fahy 
outside Delamain 

Lodge. He was also 
awarded £5 in War 

Stock at the RIC 
Depot on 17 May 
1917. Photograph 

courtesy of website:  
irishconstabulary.

com
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Their orders, as before, were to collect 
as many of the guns in the area as 
they could get before setting off for 
Moyode. They marched into Kinvara 
and collected all the shotguns and 
ammunition available. Some residents 
objected to this and actively wrestled 
with the Volunteers, whereas Mr 
Johnson, a hardware merchant, gave 
all the guns and ammunition he had 
in the shop.23 The company marched 
uninterrupted through the town, 
collecting at least thirty to forty arms.

In search of better quality ri�es, they 
then decided to move towards the 
townland of Northampton, home of a 
former British army of�cer, Mr Brady-
Murray. Before they reached his lodge 
some RIC men, cycling toward Kinvara, 
surprised them. Both sides ran for the ditch to take cover and then Kinvara Company 
were given the order to open �re. The equally surprised constables, realising they 
were outnumbered, jumped back onto their bicycles and headed toward Gort as 
fast as they could. This encounter was later to become a contentious point in many 
pension applications and needed the statement of Florence McCarthy, one of the 
RIC men on the day, to corroborate the Company members� claims.24

Kinvara Company returned to Foy�s to cook a meal before the journey that 
evening. After they had eaten a substantial meal, the men were ordered to �fall in� 
and march to Moyode to join with other Volunteers under Mellows.25 When the 
men reached Ballinderreen they met Thomas McInerney on his way to intercept 
them with some information he had gathered. As mentioned earlier, McInerney�s 
involvement in the Rising was in full swing. Ironically, he was to cease the role 
played by the Volunteers from his own parish by trying to protect them. 

Information on the extent of the forces in Kilcolgan barracks coupled with the 
supposed imminent departure of Mellows from Moyode thrust McInerney into 
a dif�cult position. He knew that companies such as Kinvara had intentions of 
passing through these areas unaware of what awaited them. Even though he had 
not been instructed to do so, he deliberately gave orders for Kinvara Company to 
stand down, return to Foy�s and await further orders.26

Figure 9.8 Drawing by Thomas Quinn depicting the 
incident with the RIC on the way to Northampton.
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Kinvara Company remained mostly intact at 
Foy�s until Saturday 29 April, even though they 
were advised by Fr O�Meehan to disband after 
arriving back. By Saturday evening, news was 
�ltering through that the Galway Volunteers were 
disbanding, with some, including Mellows, going 
on the run. The Volunteers in Kinvara proceeded to 
dump their guns and seek areas in the surrounding 
communities to evade capture. Some went home, 
unsure of where to go. However, their part in the 
Rising did not go unnoticed by the authorities:

The following Wednesday, 3rd May, a party of between 30 and 40 RIC men 
under a District Inspector came to Kinvara and surrounding villages and 
raided for the Volunteers. About 20 Volunteers who had moved out to take 
part in the Rising were arrested.27

It would seem that most of the members of Kinvara Company were arrested 
during this roundup or very shortly after. Thomas Reidy and his brother evaded 
capture until the end of June 1916; Thomas was arrested and released after one day, 
he believed that the �RIC thought that things had calmed down and some of the 
local Volunteers who were captured in the round up had already been released�.28 
Michael Hynes and James Picker were brought to Dublin but released after a week 
because they were under 18 years of age.29 Others listed in the Sinn FØin Rebellion 
Handbook were brought from Richmond Barracks to prisons such as Stanford, 
Wandsworth and Frongoch. It would be December 1916 before all the members 
of Kinvara Company were released. Fr Feeney, a good friend of Fr O�Meehan, was 
thought to be hiding out, with Liam Mellows, in the local Convent of the Sisters 
of Mercy, Kinvara. The convent was searched by the RIC with vigour, so much 
so that the parish priest rose from his sick bed and condemned the men from 

Figure 9.10 Medals awarded to 
Michael Hynes. Kindly displayed by 
his family during exhibition 2015.  
Photograph by Thomas Quinn.

Figure 9.9 Thomas McInerney was born in Kinvara and although he was a member of another company (Ardrahan) 
he ensured his neighbours and friends were protected. The investigators continue to question McInerney and he 
�nally admits to have ordered the Company to retreat. This small section is part of a long statement that contributed 
to a court case for a pension for John Burke. John Burke Military Pension Ref MSP34REF9331. John Burke�s service 
pension application with regard to case of John Burke v The Minister for Defence, typed summary and verbatim 
transcript of sworn evidence given by Thomas McInerney on 5 April 1945.
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the altar. He even wrote a letter 
to General Maxwell complaining 
about his of�cers and the insult 
to the nuns.30 As in other parts of 
the country, this week of rebellion 
and the subsequent internments 
only served to reinforce the 
now entrenched ideals that 
Fr O�Meehan and others like 
him once spoke about to these 
young men.

It is worth noting that the men 
who applied for pensions (not 
all of them did) encountered 
several problems in proving their 
entitlement. It was not until a 
test case was taken by Captain 
John Burke and a reopening of 
their cases that some succeeded 
in getting recognition of the part 
played by Kinvara Company, not 
only in 1916 but also during the 
subsequent War of Independence. 
Many died within a year or 

two of eventually receiving the pension, some in what was referred to as dire 
circumstances. In the case of John Burke, once the pension was awarded he refused 
to take it because he �was deprived of the rank of captain, I was the only captain in 
the Kinvara Company. Therefore, if I don�t get a captain�s rank and pay, I will not 
accept a military pension�.31 Captain John (Jack) Burke died on 1 February 1959, 
having never accepted his pension. 

Conclusion

This brief chronicle is the result of a community attempt to identify and remember 
those from Kinvara who were involved in the Rising of Easter Week 1916. The 
names were compiled from several lists; some names may be absent, yet to be 
discovered. The timeline of their movements draws attention to the dif�culties in 
communication and hierarchy in the Rising as a whole, the effects of which were 
also felt in Kinvara. It has become clear that, apart from one surprise encounter 

Figure 9.11 Display case kindly donated by Gort Men�s 
Shed for exhibition 2015. Two Irish Volunteers from 1916 
originally owned the gun and bayonet displayed in cabinet.  
Artefacts collected by Eddie Forde. Photograph courtesy of 
Eilish Kavanagh.

Figure 9.12 Exhibition held in Kinvara during Heritage  
Week 2015.
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with the RIC when shots were �red, Kinvara Company awaited and obeyed orders 
throughout the Rising. The determination and resolve of the company members 
were borne out when, warned of the potential consequences by Fr O�Meehan, 
not one of them stood down. Once arrested, some were held in custody until the 
general amnesty at Christmas 1916. Later, some went on to participate in the �ght 
for independence.

Note: The research for this chapter stemmed from a very successful exhibition 
held in Kinvara during Heritage Week 2015 in order to create an awareness of the 
Rising and instigate discussion on how best to commemorate the centenary in the 
community of Kinvara.
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The �humdrum little town�? - Tuam at Easter 1916
Martin O’Donoghue

In the week after the Easter Rising, the Tuam Herald reported �no disturbance� 
in the Tuam area and that �were it not for the inconvenience caused, the 
dislocation of railway and post office traffic and a little mild excitement created 

by the numerous rumours floating around, Thackeray�s caustic description of nigh 
a hundred years ago � �the humdrum little town of Tuam� would still apply�.1 Such 
a remark appears a neat little description of a town unaffected by a Rising for 
which the Herald at any rate had little sympathy. However, this quote from William 
Makepeace Thackeray was not strictly accurate.2 Similarly, just as the Herald�s 
invocation of Thackeray bore further examination, this chapter intends to ask how 
true it was to say that Tuam was a humdrum little town, away from the shifting 
currents of nationalism and even rebellion elsewhere. Tuam did not rise in 1916, 
yet there was a small minority who would have liked to, while this apparently quite 
moderate town in 1916 transferred support to Sinn FØin more or less seamlessly in 
line with the rest of the country by 1918. While the majority in the town, who were 
politically engaged in 1916, remained loyal to the efforts of John Redmond and 
the Irish Parliamentary Party (IPP) to secure home rule, it was from the smaller 
groupings of �advanced nationalism� that any appetite for rebellion in Tuam arose.3 
This chapter surveys the small though committed advanced nationalist movements 
in Tuam from the turn of the century, arguing that, if Tuam was �humdrum�, it 
could only be described as thus insofar as it mirrored many towns and areas across 
Ireland before and after the Rising. Finally, this chapter concludes with discussion 
why Tuam may, however, have appeared out of step with nearby towns and villages 
in Galway which were more radical.

Advanced nationalists in Tuam before the Rising

Although, as James McConnel and Michael Wheatley have shown, some supporters 
of the home rule movement were also members of cultural bodies such as the 
Gaelic League and the GAA, it has by now been established that such organisations 
tended to be havens for nationalists of more advanced tendencies.4 Tuam had a 
vibrant GAA scene around the turn of the century. Tuam Stars club played their 
�rst match on St. Patrick�s Day 1889 against Cortoon Shamrocks while another 
noteworthy team in the period was the Tuam Krugers Gaelic football team, 
founded in 1900 as the Boer War between Britain and South Africa raged; it was 
named after Paul Kruger, President of the Transvaal.5 The two clubs merged in 
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1904 and, as will be discussed later, Gaelic games were popular among advanced 
nationalist groups in the Tuam area, especially the Fianna. Indeed, Mountbellew 
IRB member James Haverty served as chairman of the North Galway GAA Board.6

As elsewhere, there seems to have been co-operation between the GAA and the 
Gaelic League. Almost the entire county was at least a breac-Gaeltacht (partial 
Gaeltacht) and in Tuam, the Gaelic League was promoted heavily by two prominent 
townspeople, the dispensary doctor and antiquarian Dr Thomas Bodkin Costello 
and his wife Eileen Costello (born Edith Drury) who had moved to Tuam in 1903. 
Dr Costello was vice-president of the Gaelic League branch in the town and in 
1903 helped organise a feis at which Patrick Pearse attended as an adjudicator.7 
The League continued to remain active and Eileen Costello was invited to and 
attended the �rst meeting of Sinn FØin in the Rotunda.8

Sinn FØin itself had had some brief success in local elections in the town. Although 
Tuam Town Commissioners were constantly struggling to strike a rate and housing 
conditions in the town were often poor, there was no labour movement until 
1906, when a branch of the Irish Land and Labour Association was established. 
In October of that same year, James Daly, clerk of the Board of Guardians, started 
a branch of Sinn FØin which was a movement of labourers and shop assistants in 
Tuam.9 In the early 1900s, Sinn FØin really only had a signi�cant presence in local 
government in Dublin and advocated withdrawal from Westminster and a dual-
monarchy form of association with England. However, the Tuam combination of 
Sinn FØin and the Labour movement achieved a breakthrough in 1907 when Daly, 
Thomas McHugh and John M. Burke won a seat on the town council. Nevertheless, 
the small coterie of advanced nationalists was hardly the majority voice in the town 
and probably re�ected the disaffected minorities which existed in many areas in 
the period before the outbreak of the World War and the Rising.10 The majority of 
councillors remained home rulers and only one of Sinn FØin�s �ve candidates were 
successful in the next election to the Town Commission a year later in 1908. By 
1911, Sinn FØin lost ground and did not even contest the election (though Burke 
and Daly would later serve on the commission again).11

Perhaps the most signi�cant advanced nationalist movement in Tuam was Fianna 
Éireann. This body, organised by Constance Markievicz and Bulmer Hobson, had 
inspiration in Baden-Powell�s Boy Scout movement in Britain. The Fianna was 
dedicated to Gaelic culture, Irish nationalism and a martial ethos.12 In Tuam, the 
Fianna was led by Liam T. Langley and the Slua (branch) began to organise from 
1911. As shown by Eimear Cremen, Langley was a key �gure in Tuam in 1916. 
Born on 23 January 1888 in Sydney, Australia, Langley came to Ireland when he 
was just four years old. Langley�s father Michael was originally from Caltra but had 
emigrated to Australia in 1867, while his uncle had been hanged as a Ribbonman. 
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Upon their return to Ireland, Liam Langley and his family lived in a thatched cottage 
on the Cloonthue Road, Tuam.13 In Tuam, the Fianna played Gaelic football but 
also engaged in military style drilling with a .22 ri�e.14 Membership of the Fianna 
never seems to have risen far above twenty or thirty members and appears to have 
comprised mostly of apprentices and shop assistants in the town. Langley himself 
worked in McTigue�s at this time.15 However, Thomas Nohilly remembered them 
winning the county junior football championship in 1914, while one of their 
sports days had a top prize of a revolver.16 All this seems to have been in spite of 
RIC surveillance.

Langley organised various fundraising activities and ensured the Slua was in touch 
with rising nationalists around the country. Langley regularly attended the Fianna�s 
Ard-Fheis and, in 1913, brought his Tuam slua to Dublin for the Ard-Fheis in the 
Mansion House where they met the likes of Markievicz, Con Colbert and Sean 
Heuston and attended a Fianna concert.17 Another prominent nationalist, Liam 
Mellows, often stayed at the homes of Langley and James Roche on his visits to 
Tuam.18 Mellows� organisational skills from his arrival in Galway in early 1915 
were legendary and although he operated more in other parts of the county, he still 
left his mark in Tuam. Volunteer Sean O�Neill later remembered him picturesquely 
as �this kilted lad, with his saffron-�owing shawl over his shoulders, Tara brooch, 
green kilts, long stockings and shoes, arrived, and brought with him a ray of 
sunshine into our somewhat dull and drab town of that period�.19 It was Mellows 
himself who would swear O�Neill into the IRB in 1913.

There was also a circle of the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB) in Tuam and 
membership seems to have overlapped to a degree with the Fianna. Langley 
usually presided at the meetings at the Forge, Galway Road, owned by the Connolly 
brothers. Other members included John D. Costello (Centre for Belclare, Cummer 
and Kilbannon circle), Patrick O�Daly, Joseph Cummins, Sean Forde, Patrick 
Dunleavy and Thomas Nohilly who seem to have been sworn in shortly before 
the Rising, and Thomas Kilgarriff and Con Kennedy from Dunmore.20 However, 
by September 1913 when Patrick O�Daly arrived from Dublin, he remembered 
the Tuam IRB circle as virtually broken up. Patrick Dunleavy who joined in 1912 
(sworn in by John P. Connolly) also reported the circle as being very small.

The Irish Volunteers were founded on 25 November 1913 at the Rotunda, Dublin, 
ostensibly in response to the formation of the Ulster Volunteers by Unionists 
opposed to the passing of home rule into law for Ireland. In Tuam, the Volunteers 
were launched at an initial meeting on 8 February 1914.21 The �rst meeting was held 
in the Gaelic League Hall on Bishop Street, belonging to Tom Sloyan, a prominent 
home rule supporter and town tenants agitator in Tuam. Dr T.B.Costello presided 
while Sloyan donated his yard for the new Volunteers to drill on Sundays and 
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three instructors were appointed to drill the locals. The instructors were Michael 
Kennedy, Dan Flanagan and Stephen Shaughnessy, a British army reservist. 
Shaughnessy had the bene�t of military training and his work was complimented 
by a number of local men in their BMH witness statements.22 At the �rst election 
of of�cers, Dr Costello was made president of the branch with James Daly 
treasurer and Langley secretary. Accordingly, as elsewhere, the smaller elements of 
advanced nationalism were absorbed into a volunteer force alongside supporters 
of constitutional nationalism. As membership grew, the Volunteers needed a 
bigger area to drill and the local race company provided access to their grounds 
at Parkmore. The company organised parades and route marches for Sundays, 
usually to areas within a four or �ve mile radius. The company had only wooden 
guns for drilling, though they had a .22 ri�e for target practice.23 On 29 June 1914, 
the Tuam Volunteers attended a big gathering of 2,000 volunteers in Athenry where 
they received inspection by Volunteers Commander-in-chief Maurice Moore for 
a second time.24 Shaughnessy was captain of the company which then comprised 
about 100 men. Although Tuam witnessed the �exciting scenes� of the campaign for 
women�s suffrage in this period, as Helen Fraser addressed an open-air meeting in 
the town, Cumann na mBan (founded in 1914) did not reach Tuam and only had 
a presence in the county�s east riding.25

Meanwhile, the politics of home rule were becoming increasingly troubled. Last-
ditch efforts to break the impasse over the implementation of the Home Rule 
Bill collapsed at Buckingham Palace in July. The Irish Party leadership of John 
Redmond and John Dillon would not accede to the permanent partition of the 
six Ulster counties sought by Edward Carson and the Unionists. These dif�culties 
were interrupted by events further a�eld as Britain declared war on Germany 
on 4 August. At Westminster, Redmond�s �rst response to this was to offer that 
nationalists and unionist volunteers would defend the shores of Ireland against 
foreign invasion in a conciliatory statement which won general approval in the 
Commons. For the Tuam Volunteers, the effects of war were felt fairly rapidly as 
their commander Stephen Shaughnessy was immediately called to war. According 
to the Tuam Herald, Shaughnessy was cheered and received a �most affecting� send-
off from his fellow Volunteers before leaving for the front.26

However, John Redmond�s subsequent speech at Woodenbridge, Co. Wicklow 
on 20 September, calling on Irish Volunteers to enlist in the British Army, caused 
consternation among some Volunteers nationally. While many home rule supporters 
remained faithful to Redmond and supported his new policy, those Volunteers who 
were not af�liated with the Irish Party would not countenance the strategy upon 
which Redmond was embarking. The movement thus split, with the overwhelming 
majority siding with Redmond and styling themselves the National Volunteers. The 
minority, under the leadership of Eoin MacNeill, continued as the Irish Volunteers. 
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In Tuam, no immediate split 
was effected. However, an 
impending visit to the town 
by Redmond forced the 
company to a decision and at 
a meeting on 15 November, 
the Tuam Volunteers opted to 
support MacNeill�s group by 
75 votes to 11.27 There seems 
to have been little ill-feeling 
surrounding this and many 
expressed sincere thanks for 
the work of outgoing President 
Dr Costello who regretted 
he could not continue in 
his role after the vote. The 
Volunteers who marched 
behind Redmond in Tuam 
on his visit were therefore 
from other local areas 
rather than from the town. 
The Town Commissioners 
remained loyal to Redmond 
though and held a banquet 
for him. Nationally, the 
National Volunteers tended 
to decline within a couple 
of months of war and with 
such a small group voting 
in favour of Redmond in 
Tuam, the company seems 
to have quietly diminished. 
The development of the 
split in Tuam was certainly 
interesting (mirroring a 
tendency in Galway for the 
Irish Volunteers to retain 
more support than was the 
case nationally). Nonetheless, 
it could hardly be said that 
the town became separatist 
overnight. The war gave 

Figure 10.1 Patrick Dunleavy
Source: The Dunleavy Family
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advanced nationalists the chance to organise but groupings remained small and 
drilled in secret under Langley and Seamus Moloney.28

The Irish Volunteers thus faced a dif�cult time in the town in these years; yet, 
they could occasionally still attract signi�cant attention. On 22 November 1914 
after an Irish Volunteer and Fianna march to and from Dunmore, a lecture 
commemorating the Manchester martyrs was given by Boer War veteran Major 
John MacBride in the Town Hall.29 The Tuam Herald was most impressed with the 
torchlight procession which preceded the talk, along with a performance in song of 
Sinn FØin AmhÆin by local youngster Dickie O�Connor. MacBride was introduced 
by William Stockwell, a veteran of 1867, and John Burke gave thanks. The next day, 
John D. Costello and MacBride attended a county IRB meeting in Athenry, with 
two detectives observing MacBride.30

Although Langley remained in touch with many signi�cant �gures nationally, 
both he and Patrick Dunleavy remembered this as a troubled time for advanced 
nationalists in Tuam with the Volunteers struggling under the Defence of the Realm 
Act (DORA); Langley recounted that Tuam was at risk of becoming a �pro-British 

Figure 10.2 Liam Langley (on left with straw hat) and Tuam Fianna Gaelic football team. 
Source: The Old Tuam Society archive. 
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garrison town�, forcing them to use the IRB to carry out activities.31 Nevertheless, 
the Irish Party�s local United Irish League organisation was also declining during 
the war and after a recruiting meeting was held on 8 May, the Irish Volunteers 
wished to deliver a response.32 Mellows and Sean MacDiarmada were in town, 
en route to Athenry, and it was decided to hold an �impromptu� meeting on 16 
May in the Square after last mass.33 MacDiarmada and Mellows joined Langley, 
Jim Moloney and John D. Costello on the platform while Stockwell, Sam Browne 
and local boys from the Fianna helped to distribute literature.34 In his address, 
MacDiarmada emphasised the primacy of Irish freedom, urged people to join the 
Fianna and the Volunteers and not to enlist in the British army.

There is some confusion over what prompted MacDiarmada�s arrest; Langley 
claimed the heckling of one individual who he believed to be a member of the 
Ancient Order of Hibernians gave a pretext for the RIC to come to the platform 
and arrest MacDiarmada, while Costello recalled that MacDiarmada uttering the 
words �England�s dif�culty is Ireland�s opportunity� was the trigger for his arrest.35 
In any case, the local RIC District-Inspector Francis Comerford was in attendance 
and moved to arrest MacDiarmada under DORA.36 However, the organisers 
hardly seemed to be too perturbed by the commotion; MacDiarmada managed 
to slip his revolver and other documents to Mellows and others before leaving 
with the RIC. The meeting continued without him as Mellows spoke and Langley 
presided. MacDiarmada was tried for making a seditious speech. Although he was 
defended by Tim Healy MP, he was still sentenced to six months in Mountjoy, 
serving three. After the subsequent Athenry meeting, Langley was given control 
of �ve districts surrounding Tuam until Easter 1916.37 Langley�s involvement in 
opposing recruitment continued and he received anti-recruiting literature from 
Limerick in October 1915 while police reports reveal that the so-called �mosquito 
press� of advanced nationalists was also in circulation in Tuam.38

The Rising and Tuam

On 15 April 1916, under the heading �Sinn FØin Tactics�, the Tuam Herald�s editor 
Richard Kelly asked the young people of Ireland if they were ready for their �con�ict 
with authority� and, while not at all speci�c to Tuam, the article further warned 
that Irish Volunteers were the tools of German autocrats and the threat to national 
security was �imminent�. The Herald had been founded by Kelly�s grandfather 
(also Richard) in 1837 and the Kellys were long-time supporters of the home 
rule movement from the era of Parnell.39 In his piece, Kelly opined that the Sinn 
FØin movement could do no good to the country at this time.40 However, this call 
seems to have little effect at the time, even among some of the radical nationalists, 
operating beneath the surface of Tuam politics. 
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According to Patrick Dunleavy, only the members of the Tuam IRB circle knew 
anything of a possible rebellion in the town at Easter 1916.41 Michael J. Ryan, 
who was a Volunteer but not a member of the IRB, later recalled that he was not 
mobilised for Easter Week.42 John D. Costello remembered that the organisation 
locally knew something would happen in the run up to the 
Rising but said they were not sure of the date and that 
the men from Athenry were to send a despatch 
to Langley or Costello a few days in advance.43 
This message never came and Langley 
�rst told Costello of the Rising after 
spending the day in Galway on Easter 
Monday.

Prior to this, there appears to have 
been a general mobilisation of 
the North Galway IRB circle on Easter 
Sunday at Connolly�s Forge on the Galway 
Road but they dispersed after the counter-
manding order issued by Eoin MacNeill.44 On 
Easter Monday, Langley received word that a Rising 
would take place and he passed the word to George Nicholls and 
MicheÆl Ó DroighneÆin in Galway.45 In Tuam, another mobilisation was planned 
for midnight on Easter Tuesday night for the Fair Green in the town. While some 
accounts make reference to an original plan to attempt to capture the local RIC 
barracks, it seems the plan was for all men to be transported via train from the 
railway station to Athenry to link with Mellows� forces. Tuam Volunteer Sam 
Browne, an engineer with Great Southern and Western Railway, was to arrange for 
this while the Volunteers went to confession to a sympathetic local priest, Fr John 
Heneghan, that night.46

Although Thomas Nohilly reckoned there would have been up to thirty men if 
areas such as Dunmore, Sylane and Kilbannon mobilised, he only remembered 
nine or ten at the meeting in Connolly�s Forge when he returned from confession 
on the Tuesday night.47 The town appeared to be full of RIC from the town and 
neighbouring districts. Nohilly recalled that up to this point he did not know of a 
rising and that the only arms they had were �three or four out-of-date ri�es, a few 
shotguns and revolvers�.48

Meanwhile, John D. Costello mobilised his men at a wood near Tuam and sent 
a man with a despatch to Langley to know if all was in readiness. The man 
came back and told Costello that Tuam was occupied by armed RIC and it was 
impossible to do anything. No more orders came on the Tuesday and Costello 

Figure 10.3 Liam Langley
Source: Eimear Cremen
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dismissed his men for the night.49 Back in the town, Langley had detailed Dunleavy 
and Joseph Cummins to go to the Ballymote Road to meet a contingent from 
Mountbellew. According to Dunleavy, the Mountbellew men failed to show by 
1am.50 Sean O�Neill later recalled in his witness statement that the Mountbellew 
men were unsure of developments and, without word from Tuam, disbanded sadly 
on the Tuesday night.51 As Cummins and Dunleavy returned to Tuam, they ran 
into the RIC ambush at Bishop Street. Both men were arrested and brought to 
Tuam barracks. Three Dunmore men (Tom Kilgarriff, Willie McGill and Michael 
Ronayne) and two Claremorris men (John Conway and James Ryan) had been 
captured earlier on the same road. The RIC presence in Tuam had been strongly 
reinforced. District Inspector Comerford�s son recalled in his memoir that his 
father had little instruction at the time so fearing that he was vulnerable, Comerford 
closed all his out-stations and barracks, stationed himself in the Square and set up 
armed patrols on the various roads. All vehicles entering the town were stopped. 
On Easter Tuesday, as rumours swirled around the town, Comerford had gathered 
his twenty-�ve strong force and set them up for ambush on different parts of the 
Dunmore Road. 52

All the men arrested were brought via Eglington barracks, Galway, on board the 
Laburnum in Galway Bay where they were interned alongside others, including 
George Nicholls, Frank Hardiman, Padraic Ó MÆille, John Faller, Tom Flanagan 
and Professor Valentine Steinberger of UCG. When Dunleavy, Cummins, the 
Dunmore and the Mountbellew men all failed to turn up, the remaining men in 
Tuam waited until about dawn on Wednesday 26 April before they dispersed.53 
Any chance of a Tuam rebellion was now �nished. Costello travelled from 
Dunmore to Tuam on Wednesday morning and narrowly avoided arrest. Langley, 
however, cycled to Athenry on Wednesday and met with Mellows and his forces 
at Moyode Castle. Langley then remained with Mellows� men as they retreated 
back to Limepark country house and eventually disbanded on Saturday 29 April.54 
Langley was subsequently arrested on his return to Tuam, serving time in Galway 
Jail, Richmond Barracks Dublin, Wake�eld, Frongoch and Reading. Released on 
24 December 1916 under a general amnesty, Langley relocated to Dublin where 
he remained active in the Fianna, IRB and Volunteers, later working in the �nance 
department of the Sinn FØin government.55

Reactions in Tuam

While Tuam remained quiet for the rest of Easter Week, the Tuam Herald, like 
many other papers, was left to report the hearsay and rumour swirling from 
Dublin in its Easter week edition. Communications and transport networks from 
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Dublin were cut off and only one article covered the rebellion in the capital under 
the heading �Grave disorder in Dublin�. The Herald reported that Tuam was quiet 
and added that the only incidents of note was the number of police in the town 
from neighbouring districts and the passage of motor cars through the town on 
Thursday, conveying prisoners to Galway. Referring to the arrests made in the 
town, the paper named three of the prisoners, Dunleavy, Cummins and Kilgarriff, 
along with their addresses. The Herald did not know the charges but prayed that 
Tuam would be spared the �horrors and tumults now going on in other parts of the 
country�. Events in other parts of Galway were reported by reprinting the accounts 
from the Connacht Tribune.56

The Tuam Herald changed its view little in the intervening months. A couple of 
weeks later, the Herald was content to conclude that the Rising had been the action 
of a �small but desperate section of the Irish people�.57 It was, the paper claimed, 
merely part of the German �low game of treachery, trickery and intrigue�.58 The 
Herald turned its ire on Chief Secretary Augustine Birrell and the complacency 
and incompetence of a Dublin Castle administration that had allowed the Rising 
to occur.59 It could be said that the Herald was speaking from a position of strength 
having alluded to its prior warning.

Galway County Council was vigorous in its condemnation of the Rising, blaming 
it on �irresponsible persons� who cajoled �uneducated peasants� into rebellion�.60 
However, the Town Commissioners in Tuam did not pass comment on the events 
of Easter Week. Perhaps, as Gabriel O�Connor has remarked, the Commissioners 
were merely �very selective in the political actions they supported�.61 The majority 
of commissioners had been Redmondites for some time; the poverty in the town 
also meant the commissioners had other concerns to �ll their proceedings. Indeed, 
the �nancial consequences of the Rising would be very great for Tuam as the town�s 
services relied on county council grants. As people switched allegiance to Sinn 
FØin, the collection of rates fell to a trickle.62

As in almost all parts of the country after the Rising, politics in Tuam underwent a 
process of change. By February 1917, the Redmondite Tuam Herald editor Richard 
Kelly was calling for full and immediate home rule. His editorial of 24 February 
lamented that the suspension of home rule for the duration of the war had been 
used as a triumph for unionists to try to bolster their �discredited ascendancy� 
rather than as an expedient.63 Sinn FØin�s victory in the South Longford by-
election in May 1917 was celebrated in Tuam by supporters lighting tar barrels 
and parading to the tune of Irish airs.64 The Herald was further discouraged by de 
Valera�s stunning success in Clare in July 1917; it complained about the �fatal poison 
of procrastination� as it again attacked British government policy.65 Although, by 
August, another Redmondite, F.B. McDonogh, had been re-elected chairman of 
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the Town Commission, the Commission passed a resolution proposed by the Tuam 
MacHale Sinn FØin club, disagreeing with Galway County Council�s condemnation 
of the rebels of Easter Week.66 This was passed with only two dissenters (including 
the chairman) while another resolution, condemning the executions of the rebels, 
was unanimously passed.67 The change in mood was also re�ected in the town 
commissioners being happy to grant permission to the local Sinn FØin club to hold 
a concert and lecture on 23 September, and the Tuam Board of Guardians passing 
resolutions supporting the convictions of those associated with the Portobello 
murders. Sinn FØin clubs were organised in neighbouring parishes at this time 
while John D. Costello took charge of the North Galway Volunteers. Nonetheless, 
it remained a small grouping; Thomas Nohilly related in his witness statement that 
Volunteers numbered around thirty-�ve in late 1917.68

As the conscription crisis broke, the Herald seemed to accept that conscription was 
justi�ed by the situation in Europe but recognised that it was against the wishes of 
the Irish people and called for a native Irish government to be established �rst.69 
However, both the IPP and Sinn FØin supporters were virulently opposed and 
displayed their opposition at a meeting in the Square in Tuam on 14 April 1918. 
Fr Owen Hannon, administrator, presided while 1,800 Volunteers marched along 
with the Tuam Brass Band. Fr Hannon addressed the crowd and told them they 
were �slaves� but that they had the right to be free. The Redmondite chair of the 
town commissioner, F.B. McDonogh, voiced his opposition to conscription and Fr 
Eaton, President of St Jarlath�s College, also spoke. In fact, Fr Eaton was one of four 
priests who spoke in addition to Fr Hannon as chair. The united front against the 
Military Service Act was clearly demonstrated in Tuam.70

1918 election

McDonogh remained chairman of the Town Commissioners in 1918.71 However, 
this should not mask the scale of the problems facing the Irish Party by the time 
of the 1918 election, even if the party appears to have retained more support 
in North Galway than in the other constituencies in the county.72 The outgoing 
MP for Galway North, Richard Hazleton, was one of the few younger men who 
Redmond and the party leadership had been able to bring into the IPP. However, 
Hazleton opted to switch constituencies to Louth where the Irish Party had a better 
chancing of winning (Hazleton would come within 255 votes of defeating the Sinn 
FØin candidate).73 In Hazleton�s stead, the IPP was represented in North Galway by 
Thomas Sloyan who opposed Sinn FØin�s Dr Brian Cusack. Sloyan, a commercial 
traveller, was well known for his work in the land struggle, his advocacy on behalf 
of town tenants, and his involvement with the Volunteers in Tuam in its early 
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stages. However, he was no match for Cusack. A former member of the IRB in 
London and graduate of UCG, Cusack defeated Sloyan by 8,896 votes to 3,999 
from his prison cell.74 According to some accounts, the Volunteers remained on 
duty throughout the election in Tuam and its hinterland, accompanying ballot 
boxes along with the RIC.75 Unlike in certain other parts of the country, there 
seems to have been little violence or dramatic incidents in north Galway.

Conclusion

Re�ecting on Sinn FØin�s victory in 1918, the Tuam Herald noted a �sad turn of 
the tide�.76 Such sentiments re�ected a moderate nationalist base in the Tuam area, 
even after the Rising. Yet this base was overcome by Sinn FØin, so the question 
remains of how to reconcile this with the fact there was no rising in 1916 and 
little support for one. Perhaps one approach is to examine whether or not the IPP 
and Sinn FØin always represented clear distinctions between nationalists. Dr T.B. 
Costello, for example, was prominent in the Gaelic League but took Redmond�s 
side when the Volunteers split in 1914.77 Support for the IPP did not always equate 
to staunch belief in home rule and nothing more, much less loyalty to Empire. 
In fact, support for the IPP could often be cast as part of the longer tradition 
of nationalism.78 In his BMH witness statement, Tuam Volunteer Thomas Wilson 
explained his nationalist background by referencing the Fenian tradition he learned 
from his uncle, while in the same breath he mentioned his father�s membership of 
the Land League and later the Redmondite United Irish League. It is worth noting 
his father�s United Irish League membership card bore the image of Wolfe Tone.79

On the other hand, younger activists in the town, shop assistants such as Langley 
and others in the Fianna had little sympathy with the home rule movement. The 
prominence of individuals like John Burke and others in Sinn FØin from an early 
stage would also seem to chime with Fergus Campbell�s evidence from other parts 
of county Galway that Sinn FØin of�cers came from advanced nationalist rather 
than home rule backgrounds.80 However, it may be appropriate to re�ect on the 
variety and divergence of opinions among voters locally and nationally. Anger 
at the failures of the British government to grant self-government and horror at 
the same administration�s reaction to the Rising left many shades of nationalist 
opinion disgruntled. It was this discontent which Sinn FØin was able to mobilise 
behind it in 1918, even among those who might not have contemplated rebellion 
before 1916. Although Sinn FØin members such as Eileen Costello and Samuel 
Browne were elected to the new Tuam Town Commission after the 1920 local 
elections, �ve of the thirteen commissioners retained their seats.81
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The failure of 1916 in Tuam concerns the reasons why the grouping in the town 
that had clearly committed to radical nationalism and were contemplating a 
rebellion was so small. This situation was broadly typical of many areas around the 
country while perhaps untypical compared to other parts of county Galway. A UIL 
meeting in Tuam in March 1915 had featured the catch-cry �graziers and grabbers 
stand aside � so long as you are willing to associate with the grabbers they are 
justi�ed in holding the land�.82 Police reports often referred to trouble in sub-
districts of Tuam with Turloughmore and Cummer described as �notorious�.83 In 
spite of this, the same reports emphasised that areas such as Craughwell, Athenry 
and Loughrea in the county�s east riding were the worst affected by land agitation 
and such activity has been linked to broader unrest as a factor in causing rebellion 
in Galway in 1916.84 Land troubles in Tuam appear to have been comparatively 
less signi�cant. Apart from Wilson�s remarks referred to above and Sean O�Neill�s 
witness statement, Volunteers in the area make scant reference to agrarian agitation.

Tuam did not have as broad a base of radical activists to build on as existed in 
Athenry and elsewhere. O�Neill and others expressed great admiration for Mellows, 
but the famous organiser spent more time in other parts of the county and, in 
spite of the best efforts of Langley and others in Tuam, the number of activists 
remained small. Such a situation was replicated in another county which rose in 
1916. In Wexford, the centre of the rebellion, Enniscorthy, was different from the 
other towns; its IRB membership pro�le was higher, advanced nationalist groups 
were more vibrant and its newspaper, The Echo, counted IRB member Laurence 
de Lacy among its staff. Accordingly, in 1916, Enniscorthy became the focal point 
for rebellion and the comparatively small number of Volunteers from Gorey, 
for example, headed for Enniscorthy.85 In towns like Athenry and Enniscorthy, 
where radical nationalists had a large enough following to achieve a �critical mass�, 
mobilisation was easier; more Volunteers and leaders created a more dynamic 
movement and perhaps helped to mobilise less committed rebels. This did not 
apply in Tuam.

Even in the best case scenario for the rebels nationally (e.g. if Roger Casement�s 
landing had been a success and nationwide Rising had been successfully 
implemented), it is dif�cult to see how any effective rebellion could have taken 
place in Tuam without collaboration with rebels in other areas. Plans for the Rising 
were muddled as elsewhere and information was seemingly con�ned to the small 
IRB circle. The idea of raiding the well-manned local RIC barracks seems to have 
been doomed to failure in the circumstances. The plan to get the train to Athenry 
to assist the far greater forces operating there was clearly the best chance for Liam 
Langley and his comrades to contribute to the Easter Rising in Galway. That this 
plan failed was for the same reasons as 1916 plans of differing sizes �oundered 
elsewhere: poor communications (not helped by the publication of MacNeill�s 
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counter-manding order), lack of men and arms and a strong RIC presence. Thus, 
Tuam would have to wait for the outbreak of the War of Independence to move 
from a position of rumour but relative quiet to truly feeling the effects of militant 
nationalist struggle.
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Whistling past the colonial graveyard:  

why the 1916 Rising failed to resonate in Ballinasloe
Declan Kelly

Ballinasloe and Easter 1916

One of the principal events of the 50th anniversary commemorations 
in Ballinasloe was the unveiling of a large glass case containing the 
Proclamation, at the upper end of Market (St Michael�s) Square by Mr 

Paddy Carroll, retired court clerk, which he then read to the crowd in attendance. 
It was reported that Carroll was �50 years ago � arrested and imprisoned for 
doing the same thing�.1 In reality, Paddy Carroll did not read the Proclamation 
until 15th August 1918, at a camogie match in the Fair Green.2 Rev Dr Patrick 
Kevin Egan, in his history of the parish of Ballinasloe, only mentions the Rising in 

Figure 11.1 Image taken at top of St Michael�s Square, Ballinasloe for 1966 commemorations. Left to Right:  
Fr Peter Dunne, Monsignor Timothy Glennon, Rev Cyril Champ, Tadhg Mac Lochlainn, Paddy Carroll.
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general, stating that it occurred �to the bewilderment of the people as a whole�.3 In 
the days following the Rising, there was little if any notice from either Ballinasloe�s 
more prominent citizens or public bodies. The editor of the East Galway Democrat 
was more concerned with the prospect of the town being plunged into temporary 
darkness as the first item of local news in the edition of 6th May 1916 noted the 
fact that the �Gas Holder at the Gas Works is in a very bad condition and may 
collapse at any moment�. However, the Insurrection was well known about and the 
Democrat�s correspondent noted in the same edition that 

One driver with whom we were speaking told us that he left his car a few 
miles outside the town when he was coming in, fearing that it would be 
taken by the Sinn FØiners. He was agreeably surprised to find that everything 
was quiet and left Ballinasloe with the � good tidings that Ballinasloe still 
remains on the map. 

Yet again, the same edition notes that Ballinasloe Urban District Council were 
unimpressed with �those misguided Irishmen connected with the recent 
disturbances� but nonetheless called for John Redmond and the Irish Parliamentary 
Party to use their in�uence to have them �treated with leniency and mercy�. 
The Ballinasloe Board of Guardians were similarly nonplussed expressing their 
�thorough condemnation of those who brought such misery on our Country by 
their insane attempt at rebellion�, announcing that it was �instigated as we believe 
by Germany ��.There is brief comment on the arrests of Mr John O�Reilly, Manual 
Instructor at Ballinasloe Technical School and Mr Gaffney, a professor of the Pines 
Diocesan College. Jack O�Reilly was taken to Richmond Barracks, Dublin, and 
later to Wandsworth Prison, South London, before being interned in Frongoch 
Camp, North Wales, from which he was released in July 1916. He died aged 35 the 
following September,4 the implication being that his constitution was broken by 
the rigours of prison life. He was buried in his native Tralee. Joseph Gaffney, who 
was also interned at Frongoch, can only have been at the Pines Diocesan College 
for a short time as he is not listed in the 1911 Census. A native of Kilmallock, 
Co Limerick, the college prospectus of 1913 lists him as responsible for teaching 
science and states that he trained for two years at the Royal College of Science in 
London.5 Gaffney is believed to have taken up a teaching post later in Co Sligo 
and he remained active in nationalist activities. No evidence was found that either 
of these men were even mentioned when the Insurrection�s 50th anniversary was 
marked locally in 1966.

The only events related to 1916 that might be said to have occurred in Ballinasloe 
were recounted brie�y in an article written in 1959 for the Clonfert diocesan 
college�s Gearrbhaile magazine by Rev Prof Tom Fahy:
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The dark clouds of the Great War were casting shadows over our lives at the 
time. In the autumn of 1914, I think, the first camp of the Volunteers outside 
Dublin was set up. This camp was in a field adjoining the college. Terence 
MacSwiney, Pierse McCann and Liam Mellows were frequent visitors and 
spent many an hour in the college. When Liam Mellows was on his way to 
prepare for the Rising in Galway in 1915, I believe, he called to the college. I 
asked him if they were serious about fighting, or if they were a political move-
ment similar to what Carson had set up in Ulster to block Home Rule. Liam�s 
answer left me in no doubt about what thing they had in mind.

Curiously, Fahy made no mention of Joseph Gaffney despite the fact that they were 
contemporaries on the college staff and that, in the same article, he reminisced on 
all the other lay staff in the college during his own tenure there.

Signi�cantly, Barra ÓMaolalaidh, a native of Ballinasloe, recalls being present at a 
meeting in the assembly room of St Grellan�s Boys School preparatory to the 50th 
anniversary celebrations. On that occasion he heard Mr Paddy Carroll state that 
prior to the Rising, most people in Ballinasloe were proud to be part of the British 
Empire and that it was only after the events succeeding the Rising that the tide of 
opinion began to change.6

The Trench Family and the evolution of Ballinasloe town

The reason why Ballinasloe failed to answer to the call to arms in 1916 may be 
attributed largely to the in�uence exerted on the local mindset by the Trench family, 
who were the main catalysts in the growth of the annual October Fair. The rapid 
expansion in houses and businesses was due to the granting of generous leases on 
condition that structures of quality were erected.7 A synthesis of the architectural 
and documentary evidence for the rapid growth of Ballinasloe between 1716 and 
1819, may help to appreciate more readily that the very existence of the town 
owes much to the efforts of the Trench family. There is a brief, though interesting, 
comment on local topography in the early eighteenth century from the pen of 
eminent physician and antiquarian Sir Thomas Molyneux. Passing through the 
place in 1709 he noted �a very pretty scituated (sic) village on ye river Suck�, which 
seems to con�rm the local belief that the town developed from the area now called 
the Hill of Back, which skirts along by the Suck. What is even more notable is 
Molyneux�s remarking on � � a Danesmount, with a large trench round it � so 
�at one might almost (sic) take it for a fort: this, with one more, were the only 
mounts I saw on all ye road between Killeglin and Gallway (sic), tho� their forts 
were all along the way mighty frequent�.8 The incorrectly named �Danesmount� he 
viewed may have been the remains of the old stronghold of Dœn Leodha at which 
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point Molyneux and his entourage would have been obliged to ford the river.9 
As he was en route to Kilconnell, however, and would have passed the far more 
prominent feature of Knockadoon (derived from the hill of the fortress and upon 
which St John�s Church of Ireland now stands), it is more likely that he was referring 
to Knockadoon. From the con�guration of Knockadoon, we may now surmise 
that what Molyneux saw were the remains of a motte and bailey, and the fact that 
the trench at Knockadoon�s basal area would have approximately encompassed 
large sections of what are now the main thoroughfares suggests strongly that this 
section of the town was almost completely devoid of dwellings. On 26th February 
1716 William Spenser, grandson of the poet Edmund Spenser, had sold his lands 
with rights to all fairs and markets to Frederick Trench of Garbally and shortly 
thereafter we see in the various phases of local building what Henry Inglis would 
in 1834 call a �fostering hand�.10 

The earliest known inn to serve visitors to Ballinasloe is believed to have been 
called The Sign of the Cock and the Hen and must have been established before 
172311 when Jonathan Swift stayed there en route to visit Bishop Theophilos 
Bolton in Clonfert. This tavern reputedly stood where Mockler�s Hotel was later 
built on River Street and must have been the same building advertised in 1780 as 
�The Great Inn in Ballinasloe�.12 A decade after 1723, the use of external memorials 
in the southern zone of Creagh cemetery became apparent, with two modestly 
sized but ornate headstones dating from 1733 and 1734. These are known to have 
been erected by Catholic families, despite the fact that this zone of the cemetery 
contains predominantly Protestant burials; from 1760 onwards Catholic burials 
moved out from an initially small, discrete area and radiated into other sections 
of the same zone, signifying the growing economic importance of certain families. 
Rev Dr Egan has suggested that this mix of burials is related to the site having 
been formerly appropriated by a medieval church and it may be that older local 
families continued to use the place for burial, even after the Reformation. Egan has 
also noted that, while many eighteenth-century landlords advertised plots of land 
for lease by Protestants only, the Trench notices contained no such stipulations.13 
Frederick Trench was beginning to put the area on a �rm business footing when he 
published a notice in Pue�s Occurrences in 1747 letting 

for three lives from the first day of May next, several plots in the town of Bal-
linasloe in the county of Galway, with a sufficient number of acres near said 
town � very convenient to persons inclined to carry on the linen or woollen 
manufacture in said town�14 

In 1757, he received patents to hold fairs on 15th May and 13th July. The fair now 
held in October was established before the Trench family had bought the lands 
from Spenser.15
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By 1735 Ballinasloe�s fame was suf�ciently established for Francis Nichols to 
describe it as being ��nely placed on the river Suck�16 and in 1737 a Charter 
School was built. The bridge, which traditionally marked the boundary between 
the counties of Galway and Roscommon, was completed by William Brennan in 
1754, replacing a narrower structure of the Elizabethan era. The last quarter of 
the eighteenth century saw an energetic phase of civic building and road-laying in 
and about Ballinasloe which is mostly attributable to the vision of William Power 
Keating Trench (1741-1805) who was ennobled as Baron Kilconnell in 1797 and 
created �rst Earl of Clancarty in 1803. There is a now vague tradition that Tea-lane 
was the �rst street in Ballinasloe. Taylor and Skinner�s Road Map of 1777 seems 
to depict Tea-lane above a spur which may be the current Market (St Michael�s) 
Square in an incomplete form, but it also shows that Main Street was by that time 
well under construction. A lease, also dated to 1777, described Tea-lane as �Back-
street�17 which suggests that it was by then understood to be subordinate to the 
principal thoroughfare. At least one lease is known for Main Street from 1767, but 
there is little in the way of documentation, which may be a consequence of the 
burning of Garbally House and its contents in 1818. Taylor and Skinner�s map does 
not show either Dunlo or Society Street but seems to display what is now Main 
Street running in a straight line to Garbally House, with just one road branching 
away to Galway. The lack of building along these arteries was con�rmed by the 
biographer of Archbishop Power le Poer Trench who stated that by 1790/1791, the 
future Society Street was �chie�y occupied by the poor � in none but the meanest 
cabins�. The same source also noted that �Brakernagh (sic) was only building� at the 
same time.18 Thus, it appears that Tea-lane predated both Dunlo and Society Street 
and also Brackernagh. While Taylor and Skinner�s map shows that neither Dunlo 
nor Society Street were even laid by 1777, a lease for the building on the corner of 
these streets (formerly O�Rourke�s bakery) exists for 179119 and the keystone of the 
archway at what was formerly Duane�s pharmacy at the top of Main Street bears 
the date �1783�. Thus, the concept for two further arteries radiating from Main 
Street must have been devised between 1783 and 1791. William Power Keating 
Trench was not unmindful of denominations other than that of the Established 
Church in his burgeoning town and in 1792 he permitted the Methodists to 
erect a chapel at the entrance to Tea-lane and the Roman Catholic chapel that 
preceded St Michael�s Church was built below this in 1793. St John�s Church of 
Ireland was erected on Knockadoon at about the same time and replaced the old 
church in Creagh which continued to be used for Clancarty burials until the 1870s. 
Larkin�s map of 1819 shows the town in approximately its present form. The only 
major change to Main Street�s topography in the late nineteenth century was the 
demolition in 1862 of Craig�s Hotel and the building in its stead of the Masonic 
Lodge. While Power Keating Trench was progressive, he also inherited some of 
the ruthlessness more associated with his grandfather David Power of Coorheen, 
Loughrea. When, in 1784, young Dominic Bellew was stabbed to death for a purse 
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of sixty guineas in River Street and his body dumped by his killers in the river 
Suck, local forces of law and order responded quickly. After the posting of reward 
notices for the successful capture of the perpetrators and a subsequent trial, �ve 
men were executed and their remains displayed on a gibbet on the outskirts of the 
town for months afterwards as a warning to would-be troublemakers.20 

The current location of the Fair Green has for a long time been regarded as the 
main arena for the October Fair; yet, this area has only been used as such since 
about 1844. The year before, a newspaper correspondent noted that 

We are happy to ensure [sic] the farmers of this province that the necessary 
arrangements are being made for securing a suitable green for the 
accommodation of the increasing supply of stock being brought to the fair of 
this  town.21 

Prior to that time, the Fair took place near the canal and in a pasture which was 
known in the 1980s as Burke�s Field.22 A relief road connecting River Street to 
Harbour Road was completed through this area (with a spur road leading to 
Market Square) in 1985. There are few traceable references to this former location 
of the Green, though a newspaper report notes that the proposed canal navigation 
for Ballinasloe would �terminate in a spacious Harbour, about 200 yards south 
of the fair green in Ballinasloe�.23 This may be the source of the tradition that 
Tea-lane, now Jubilee Street, was the oldest street in Ballinasloe, being the most 
convenient to the Fair Green of the time. The location of the original fair and its 
move to a new area is signi�cant as it re�ects the growing importance of the Fair 
to the economy of the town and also highlights the increased wealth of the Trench 
family. The Trench family had for some time thrown open their demesne to the 
sheep fair in July, though we can hardly suppose that this activity was permitted 
in the landscaped con�nes of Garbally Park. The sheep fair would have covered 
the area now used wholly as the Fair Green and also the area now occupied by the 
largely residential Ard Mhuire and Brackernagh. The area of Brackernagh on which 
Portiuncula Hospital and Ard Mhuire stand was heavily planted well before 1786.24 
Thus, the cattle fair was held in Burke�s Field and the sheep fair in the demesne 
itself. The moving of the Green to its current location was a practical measure 
by the third Earl, William Thomas le Poer Trench (1803-1872), as he was keen to 
secure the exhibition of the Royal Agricultural Improvement Society for 1845 and 
to this end he erected the Royal Agricultural Hall, now the Town Hall, in 1845.25 
It was also hugely symbolic and the annual tableau vivant that was the October 
Fair now played out around Knockadoon, which served as a platform for the local 
Established Church. One might argue that the ground plan laid by William Power 
Keating Trench reached its apotheosis in the designs of the third  Earl.



- 203 -

Military Presence

One strong proof of Ballinasloe�s generally tranquil status during the nineteenth 
century is the chequered history attached to the military barracks in the area 
known as Waterloo-place which stood almost opposite the Town Hall on what 
is now Society Street. On the 1842 6� OS map the street is called �Soldier�s Row�. 
Erected and opened by November 1788, Waterloo-place presents on the 1842 6� 
map as a pincer-shaped set of buildings that occupied about two roods and thirty-
six perches.26 The former Convent of Mercy primary school now occupies the 
spot where the entrance to the barracks once stood and the buildings have been 
down since at least 1873, when the school was built. No description has survived 
of the barracks buildings, though it may be surmised that they were largely 
functional with a few architectural pretensions thrown in for the of�cer quarters. 
When the correspondent for The Parliamentary Gazeteer of 1844-1845 reviewed 
the facilities in Ballinasloe, he described the barrack as �a small and unattractive 
mass of masonry�. As access to the garrison would have been forbidden for most 
civilians, except perhaps local suppliers, it is unsurprising that no lore about the 
garrison has passed down the generations. It was believed that it derived its name, 
Waterloo-place, from the number of veterans of the Napoleonic Wars who lived 
there, but on foot of recent research it is suggested that it was renamed in honour 
of Wellington�s victory after its renovation in 1820.27 One of the few people to 
have sojourned there with direct links to Wellington was Major-General Eberhardt 
Otto George von Bock who brie�y had command of the Iron Duke�s cavalry.28 The 
garrison was largely abandoned by about 1813 but in November of 1820 it was 
announced that 

The barracks, stabling and c. (sic.) at Ballinasloe, having undergone a com-
plete repair � is to be established as the headquarters of a regiment. The 
King�s Dragoon Guards are to be removed there from Gort next week.29 

Writing about Ballinasloe in 1824, Hely Dutton mentions �two extensive barracks 
for infantry, and one for cavalry � for some time unoccupied until in 1820 they 
were �lled with troops called in to quell the ribbonmen�. The trouble at that time 
was undoubtedly that which led to the trial and subsequent execution at Birchgrove, 
on the Athlone road, of Ribbonman Captain Matt Mannion in March of 1820.30 In 
1818, Garbally House had been burned to the ground and although no reason is 
given for the �re in the few reports available, it may have been caused by agrarian 
agency. By December 1820, the numbers at the barrack had jumped to more than 
1,600, comprising the 1st Light Dragoon Guards and the 49th Regiment of Foot.31 
Little is known of the barrack but there is no doubt that it was incapable of holding 
such a large force and the considerable over�ow must have been billeted on what is 
now the Fair Green. In 1931, when an tAthair Eric MacFhinn was interviewing an 
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elderly local lady, she asked if it was not true that �the Battle of Waterloo was fought 
over there near the Convent?�32 While a group of listening schoolboys guffawed 
at the elderly lady�s naivety, it might not be entirely discounted as it may have 
been a remnant of memory of army activity on the Green, most likely a large-scale 
billeting or at least drilling outside of Fair season. The United Service Magazine 
of 1831 lists the barracks among the list of �Occupied Temporary Barracks� and 
it would seem from this that it was simply a stopping-off point or place of quasi-
domicile for convenient regiment units. Newspaper reports bear out this theory as 
the comings and goings of regiment and cavalry detachments featured frequently. 
But, while a small group of hussars might take their horses for a canter around 
Ballinasloe more from a desire to exercise their mounts than because they were 
on the prowl for would-be miscreants, they were certainly ready for action. When 
Jozef Borulawski stayed in Ballinasloe in July of 1796 he discovered to his relief just 
how ready the local troops were.33 He recounted his experiences with wry humour, 
though at the time he probably felt threatened. The Polish-born Borulawski, 
who was a nobleman by adoption, was only 39 inches in full stature. One Sunday 
morning, he joined a group who were listening to a Methodist preacher, just 
when the group were beginning a hymn. Borulawski�s appearance caused such 
excitement that the group deserted the preacher and created a commotion that 
brought citizens rushing in from all directions to see what was happening. The 
pitch of excitement was so high that �the garrison �ew to arms, thinking that the 
enemy was approaching � In consequence of which, the Colonel ordered all the 
streets to be well ordered by the troops�.34 The hapless Methodist preacher who had 
earlier implored his �Dear brethren� not to follow �the little red devil� (Borulawski 
had been wearing a red coat) had begun to sing a hymn to the beat of Handel�s 
March when a captain of the Dragoons trotted up to him on his mount and told 
him to shut up as he mistook the hymn for a ballad. Fortunately for Borulawski, he 
had already met and impressed a number of the locally quartered of�cers and the 
same captain that accosted the preacher �came with his dragoons and escorted me 
home�, leaving the preacher�s face suffused with rage. 

Recalcitrant troublemakers in Ballinasloe could not have been many as in 1841 
McCulloch noted �a small bridewell, so defective in its interior arrangements, 
that the male and female convicts are con�ned in the same sleeping room�.35 
From newspaper reports of the time, such persons were more often than not 
from the local slums and were generally arrested for minor breaches of the peace 
such as public inebriation or physical altercations with neighbours. The weapons 
wielded on the latter occasions amounted to nothing more dangerous than a 
badly aimed bottle or convenient domestic item and thus we may conclude that 
after the problem of Ribbonism had been neutered the barrack was simply an 
insurance against non-existential threats. We are aware of only one event which 
could fall under the heading of a series disturbance which occurred in March 
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1847 and was brie�y noted by the Inspecting Of�cer, Major Ainslie. A number of 
men, agitating against the local Relief Committee, marched through the streets 
with a loaf atop a pole and created a good deal of noise and excitement. There 
were probably some minor acts of the kind of wanton vandalism that these 
occasions inevitably inspired as the report states that �no further outrage has 
been attempted�; in any event, troops were soon on the scene with carbines at 
the ready and the ringleader was conveyed to the local bridewell.36 Despite the 
relatively small force of local soldiery in the mid-1840s, few would have been 
doughty enough to have risked being chopped down by a unit of well trained 
light cavalry. Even when the town was �lled with huge crowds and the possibilities 
for nationalist mischief boundless, there was little trouble and a correspondent 
writing on the Fair of 1843, noted �There was a company of the 61st, and a strong 
police force in attendance. We are at a loss to conjecture what brought them here 
� for so little necessity did Mr Kearns RM, apprehend for their presence, that, we 
understand, he did not send a requisition for them�.37 Waterloo-place seems to 
have been long vacated by the military in 1866 when it was being used by Junius 
Horne, a prominent local businessman, as a lodging place for the Fair Week. No 
date has been traced for its closure as a military station though one local source 
ascribes it to c. 1870.38 The real date for abandonment by the military probably 
came just before that as references in newspapers begin to get scarce after 1849 
when we learn that �A company of the 59th Regiment arrived at Ballinasloe this 
day, from Birr, to relieve one of the 31st, which marched to Athlone�.39 The felling 
stroke was probably delivered by the Crimean War and with the loss of over 
21,000 men in that con�ict, it is likely the British Army felt that �outposts� like 
Ballinasloe were a luxury that could not be afforded. In the last known reference 
to it in newspapers, it is noted as the �horse repository�40 which seems to signal 
that it �nished its days as convenient stabling for the October Fair. It is believed 
that the forces located there were transferred to Athlone and its short and 
rather undramatic history would seem to indicate that whatever else Ballinasloe 
required, it was not a heavily armed force. Townspeople would have daily rubbed 
shoulders with soldiers on the streets and in its shops in the same manner as they 
would the members of any other profession and would for the most part have 
taken their presence for granted. Ballinasloe was tranquil enough for a number 
of military men to make their homes there, but while they understandably 
retained the titles associated with their ranks, they took up positions normally 
linked with civilian status. Major Henry Gascoyne became estate manager for the 
earls of Clancarty (no doubt aided in his career by his marriage to the daughter 
of Archbishop Power le Poer Trench), Major Alexander Freer became the main 
agent for the Canal Company and Captain James Bell became �rst Manager of 
the Bank of Ireland. There is no evidence, of which this author is aware, that 
any of these men were ever troubled by individuals who resented their former 
military careers. 
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Sectarianism

Active sectarianism in nineteenth-century Ballinasloe was more the result 
of individual zeal than general policy. Most of the trouble was caused by the 
proselytising of Archdeacon Charles le Poer Trench (1772-1839) who was, in any 
light, an unusual individual. Fifth son of the �rst Earl, he was Captain and Adjutant 
of the Galway Militia from 1797 to 1799, during which time his reputation as a 
martinet earned him the nickname �Skin �im alive�.41 Despite the fact that his own 
brother refused him admission to Holy Orders on the basis of his unsuitability, 
he was ordained and rose to the position of Archdeacon. He was certainly not 
squeamish and when Matt Mannion was moments from being hanged in 1820, 
Trench rode dramatically through a crowd estimated in the thousands to enjoin 
Mannion�s relatives to bid their farewells. While initially on friendly terms with the 
Roman Catholic Bishop of Clonfert Dr Thomas Costello and Archdeacon Garrett 
Lorcan PP Ballinasloe, by 1818 Trench had come into open con�ict with Lorcan 
on the subject of the estate schools and attempts to use a Protestant catechism for 
the instruction of Catholic children. This led to a long standing and acrimonious 
dispute which culminated in court proceedings that cast a dim light on 
Archdeacon Trench and his private life. Daniel O�Connell would later declare him 
to have �thirteen mistresses � and � twelve illegitimate children �� and to have 
attempted to create a smokescreen for his activities by hurriedly ordaining men 
on condition that they marry some of his offspring.42 After Archdeacon Lorcan 
had died in 1825, his successor Laurence Dillon continued to resist any attempt 
at proselytism. When visiting a dying parishioner in 1834, Dillon noticed an Irish 
language bible on the kitchen dresser. It was alleged that he took the bible, lifted 
the lid of the �re-grate with a pair of tongs and dropped it in the �ames. He then 
departed without a word, leaving the ailing parishioner�s son to wail: �Oh daddy, 
daddy, Fr Dillon has threw my bible into the �re, come and take it out if you can!�.43 
These unsavoury matters notwithstanding, one of the �nest pieces of architecture 
in Ballinasloe today is the monument erected in 1840 to Archdeacon Trench�s 
memory. Poor relations between the local Catholic Church and the Clancarty 
family would continue until into the 1860s when the third Earl unsuccessfully 
attempted to oppose the introduction of the Sisters of Mercy into Ballinasloe�s 
workhouse.44 In what is a curious piece of architectural/cultural contradistinction, 
the former Convent of Mercy is located directly opposite and below the Trench 
monument as though the spirit of the Archdeacon was glowering down upon it. 
While the Convent was being built, relations between the third Earl and the local 
pillars of Catholicism were almost incendiary. It thus seems wryly ironic that in 
1958 a �re station was built between both structures. Today, the cenotaph erected 
to the memory of Archdeacon Trench peers majestically down on the Fair Green 
from its perch on Dunlo Hill. While it is a splendid monument, it is illustrative of 
the reinvention of history that a substantial number of local people believe that 
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it was erected by the third Earl to mark the burial place of his greyhounds. In 
1907 the �fth Earl of Clancarty was declared bankrupt in England and in 1909 
in Ireland. Despite speculation in May 1922 that he might shortly return to the 
family seat,45 by November of the same year the contents of Garbally House were 
auctioned off 46 and the following year it became a boarding school as part of 
the diocesan college. Even given the unpleasantness which ran from 1818 until 
into the 1830s and residually until the 1870s, the Clancarty family had a strong 
and predominantly positive in�uence over every arena of activity in the district. 
By 1931, when an tAthair Eric Mac Fhinn was gathering folklore about Clonfert 
diocese, any recollections about these periods of sectarian strife were more in the 
realm of folklore than historical fact. A good example is that of Fr Patrick Costello 
(1842-1901) who was Administrator of the parish of Ballinasloe from 1882-1889. 
Costello was reputed to have had an altercation with the Church of Ireland rector 
Rev Mr John Cotton-Walker during which Cotton-Walker stuck out his tongue 
at him and was left unable to retract it for the remainder of his days. In a second 
instance, Costello had overseen the building of the spire of St Michael�s Church in 
1887 and the dowager Clancarty had complained that the ringing of the new bell 
was irritating. Costello was reputed to have placed a �curse� on her and the day after 
the complaint she was rendered completely deaf.47 The �rst story is probably a folk 
memory of a mannerism of Cotton Walker�s and the dowager Clancarty would 
have required unparalleled hearing to be annoyed by the clangour of St Michael�s 
bell as she had been resident from 1872 at Coorheen House, Loughrea.48 What 
is signi�cant, however, is that the details surrounding any bad relations between 
the Clancarty family and their tenantry had within �fty years become not only 
vague but risible. One is always in danger of reading too much into folklore but 
it is hardly insigni�cant that the stories about hauntings at Garbally House and 
Park begin to circulate at the same time as the British Army occupied it in 1920. 
These stories are legion and include a panicked of�cer trying to shoot down a 
spectre that proceeds to dematerialise through a wall of the House and a group 
of terri�ed Black and Tans �ring several volleys of bullets through the ghost of 
Archdeacon Trench on the Broad Walk.49 As amusing as these stories may be, the 
period 1920-1922 brought turmoil to Ballinasloe that had not been seen since 
the days of the Ribbonmen. There were numerous attacks on Protestant citizens, 
perhaps the most notorious on Mr Robert Orr and his family in June 1922. A law-
abiding Presbyterian, 64 year-old Orr had come to Ballinasloe from Co Monaghan 
in 1883 as house carpenter to the Clancarty family. His home in Brackernagh was 
raided by armed men who terrorised his family, beat him savagely and smashed 
every window-pane and item of furniture in the place.50 When he �nally moved 
and offered his home for sale, it was burned to the ground.51 Similarly, the home of 
John Wood, a prominent businessman who resided at Cleaghmore, was torched52 
despite the fact that he had a large number of Catholic employees who were treated 
fairly. Wood was also Presbyterian. While some prominent local �gures failed to 
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condemn these actions, such events were generally held in abhorrence by locals and 
perhaps the stories of ghostly goings-on at Garbally were a folkloric hearkening to 
what people imagined were the disapproving spirits of their dead  overlords. 

Remembering Nationalists

Even in 1946, when the Clancarty family were long gone and the local Gaelic League 
took the bold move of renaming thirteen of Ballinasloe�s streets and avenues after 
nationalist �gures, they opted for conventional appellations rather than names 
associated with 1916. These included William McNevin, Patrick Sars�eld, Robert 
Emmet and Michael Davitt. Of the leaders of the Rising, Eamon Ceannt�s name 
was the only one mooted, but was ultimately not chosen and it would be 1966 
before it attached to the railway and bus terminal in Galway city. As an aside, the 
names chosen had little discernible impact on the local populace and to this day 
older residents will refer not to Davitt-place but to Reeves-lane, the latter being 
the older name. This is despite the fact that Reeves-lane53 was completely deserted 
by 1950 when the last residents abandoned their old homes for new housing.54 
Furthermore, when this writer questioned a sample of ten locals on the location 
of �Hymany Street�, another of the names chosen in 1946, only one of those 
interviewed was aware of its existence. The only local nationalist �gure to have 
his name appended to a civic artery was Matt Harris who had died in 1890. Harris 
Road runs past the Fair Green from lower Brackernagh to Sars�eld Road. To most 
in Ballinasloe, however, it is known as �The Burma Road�, a name bestowed by local 
whimsy at the time of its laying. When the 50th anniversary of the Insurrection 
came to be celebrated in Ballinasloe in 1966, events began on Friday 22nd April 
with local children attending a Mass celebrated in St Michael�s before being 
paraded to the schools, where a pupil unveiled the Proclamation and a lecture 
was delivered. On the Sunday there was a special commemoration concert in the 
Town Hall and another Mass before Paddy Carroll read the Proclamation again, 
on this occasion from a platform at the upper end of St Michael�s Square.55 Most 
of the large number of veterans attending the ceremony in Market Square were 
old IRA men from the time of the Battle of Independence and diligent inquiry has 
failed to uncover the names of anyone present who was an actual witness to the 
Rising or involved in its preparations with the exception of Monsignor Tom Fahy 
of University College Galway. 

One could argue that the in�uence of the Clancarty family and the relative prosperity 
that resulted from the Fair turned Ballinasloe into a predominantly loyalist town 
and from the late nineteenth into the early twentieth century there were numerous 
proofs of this loyalism and an adherence to a conservative outlook. On Queen 
Victoria�s Jubilee in 1887, Church Lane was renamed Victoria Street. When King 
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Edward VII died in May 1910, the Ballinasloe No 1 Rural District Council tendered 
sympathy to Queen Alexandra and the Royal Family.56 When a public memorial was 
erected to the late Dr William Rutherford in 1913, the �fth Earl was invited back 
to perform the unveiling and was �very warmly received�.57 At least 106 men with 
Ballinasloe links died in the Great War.58 Many of these individuals are recorded 
as having come from the poorer parts of the local community.59 When the British 
Legion Hut which stood on a margin of the Fair Green was demolished in October 
1968, it was not on account of nationalist objections to its existence but because 
most of the local veterans of the Great War had by that time died and the building 
itself was in poor condition. There was also an annual Mass offered in St Michael�s 
Church on Armistice Day until the 1970s. In 1992, a past pupil of Garbally College 
was recalling how a clerical professor of English there in the 1940s had 

deprecated everything that was Irish and especially everything that related to 
the fight for Irish freedom. If the British had cut the buttons off the pants of 
Pearse and his comrades instead of making martyrs of them, Ireland would 
still be part of the United Kingdom.60 

It should be noted, of course, that Ballinasloe was not unique among urban 
areas in Co Galway in its lack of enthusiasm for the Rising and that it simply 
conformed to a general pattern with the notable exception of Athenry.61 Loughrea 
was certainly no different with one former IRA Volunteer describing Loughrea as 
�one hundred per cent anti-National� at the time of the Rising.62 Ulick de Burgh 
(1802-1874), �rst Marquess Clanrickarde, who was the major landed interest in 
Loughrea for most of the nineteenth century, was absentee, but his affairs were 
overseen by his seneschal Edmond Silk. Silk was continuing to hold manorial-style 
court sessions in the district until at least 1838 though one observer considered 
the proceedings so archaic as to be absurd.63 As with Ballinasloe, there was also an 
army garrison at Loughrea and this was functioning up until 1920 and had been in 
operation from at least 1784 when the 14th Light Dragoons were stationed there.64 
Interestingly, the naming of �Liam Mellowes Terrace� in 1950 had little to do with 
commemoration of the Insurrection and was proposed by Mr Conlan TC65 who 
said: �Although Loughrea was never a Nationalist stronghold, Liam Mellowes had 
many associations here and visited it often during the troubled times�. In the end, 
the name was passed by a vote of �ve votes to three defeating proposals to name the 
new residences either �Holy Year Row� or �Maria Assumpta Terrace�.66 �Donnellan 
Drive�, named after Loughrea native Brendan Donnellan who died in the Rising, 
was only so named in about 1980. 
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Conclusion

Ballinasloe�s annual fairs combined with progressive building programmes and 
generous leases granted by successive earls of Clancarty led to its rapid growth and 
one may argue that it also contributed to making it a predominantly conservative 
and loyalist district. Though modestly structured in 1709, by 1819 it had taken on 
approximately the same con�guration it has today. Sectarian strife was mostly the 
result of individual zeal rather than concerted effort and there is evidence is that 
the Trench family encouraged rather than obstructed the economic efforts of local 
Catholic merchants from the early eighteenth century. The �uctuating numbers of 
soldiers at the army garrison in Waterloo-place with its decline and closure by the 
late 1850s is evidence of the town�s relatively peaceful status during the nineteenth 
century. The Easter Rising had no discernible impact in the town and neither Jack 
O�Reilly nor Joseph Gaffney, both of whom held prominent teaching positions 
in Ballinasloe, have been commemorated in any way locally for their roles in the 
Insurrection. Paddy Carroll, who �rst read the Proclamation locally, is recalled as 
having stated that, at the time of the Rising, Ballinasloe was effectively a town of 
convinced unionists. The question is not so much why Ballinasloe failed to answer 
the call to arms in 1916 as much as why anyone, taking into account its strongly 
loyalist leanings at the time of the Rising, should be surprised that it did not.
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Connemara and the Easter Rising1

Cormac Ó Comhraí

In one way, Connemara’s role in the events of Easter Week 1916 was a minor 
one. The same can be said of much of the country. That does not mean that a 
study of Connemara at that time is not a worthwhile exercise. In order to gain 

a proper understanding of the place and of contemporary politics, it is necessary 
to study those who did not participate in the Rising as much as those who did. 
Connemara is also significant in another way. Many of those who took part in the 
Rising viewed the area as a well of Gaelic culture and many of the Rising’s leaders 
had visited the area in the years before 1916. Many nationalists viewed themselves 
as part of a Catholic, Gaelic nation, although the role of Protestants in nationalist 
organisations was also recognised. There had been uprisings at various times over 
the previous hundred years but by the close of the nineteenth century, nationalists 
were focused more on Westminster than on efforts at rebellion. Supporters of the 
Home Rule/ Irish Parliamentary Party, which was the most prominent nationalist 
organisation, felt that Irish people would have to be satisfied with a parliament 
with limited powers in Dublin, that the Irish would have a role in the British 
Empire and that the King would be Head of State. 

Although the standard of living in the west of Ireland had improved, both as a 
result of government policies and for other reasons, it was felt that the Westminster 
government could never serve the public as well as Irish people themselves. Many 
considered that the most effective way of improving the quality of life for the 
average person in rural areas was to divide land amongst the poor and to invest 
in alternative industry in places where the land quality was poor. Ultimately, most 
nationalists felt that unity was essential leading to intense hostility towards anyone 
who split the nationalist camp. Nevertheless there were some radical nationalists 
who did not accept the authority of the Irish Parliamentary Party. These people 
wanted a much greater level of independence than that available under Home Rule 
and they included republicans who wanted complete separation from the King, 
the United Kingdom and the Empire. 

In the case of Connemara, radicalism was relatively strong in areas where the Irish 
language remained strong but was waning, for example the areas around An MÆm 
and Maigh Cuilinn. Radical nationalism was also strong in areas where the Irish 
language revival movement had been active i.e. An SpidØal (the location of an 
Irish College) and Ros Muc (where Patrick Pearse had a holiday home). Radical 
nationalism was far weaker in towns such as Clifden and Oughterard, where people 
were reasonably well off with a stronger connection to government institutions. 
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Radical nationalist organisations were also weak 
in the strongly Irish-speaking areas of southern 
Connemara. Those areas were poverty-stricken 
and weaker organisational development should 
not be equated with local hostility, however. 
Belonging to the republican movement cost 
money, through supporting radical newspapers, 
the loss of employment opportunities and, later, 
paying for one�s own uniform and arms in the 
Irish Volunteers. This lessened the recruitment 
potential for radical organisations in poor areas.

Often, it was an individual who kept radicalism 
alive. Morgan Davoren wrote of one Sinn FØiner 
in Maigh Cuilinn: 

I sure gave PÆdraig (Ó DroighneÆin) credit for making a number of us who 
were active at that time better Irishmen and more informed young men that 
you could find in many parishes around Galway.2

The most important radical in Connemara was the Sinn FØiner PÆdraic Ó MÆille 
from the MÆm area. The police force, the Royal Irish Constabulary, felt that Ó 
MÆille would win the Connemara parliamentary seat if he chose to stand against 
the Irish Parliamentary Party in 1910. Sinn FØin held no seat at that point and 
the national leadership was not suf�ciently con�dent to enter the fray. It is for 
this reason, apparently, that Ó MÆille did not put forward his name.3 In reality 
the Irish Republican Brotherhood/Fenians (IRB) was the most important radical 
organisation although this was not apparent at the time. The IRB was a secret 
military organisation seeking to stage a rebellion, establish a republic and sever 
all ties with the British Empire. There were members of the organisation in 
Connemara but it would seem that they were not as numerous as in other areas of 
County Galway. Fenians became members of other organisations in order to steer 
them towards rebellion or to help improve the quality of life of supporters. One 
example of a Brother was MícheÆl Ó MaolÆin from `rainn. Ó MaolÆin was in a 
number of different cultural and political organisations as well as being an active 
trade-unionist.4 

At the dawn of the twentieth century, all of Connemara was a Gaeltacht (Irish-
speaking) or a breac-Ghaeltacht (partially Irish-speaking) area.5 Visitors viewed 
Connemara as exotic being different because of the Irish language, poverty and 
the type of economic system that had developed in the area. Some viewed locals 
as semi-barbarous. Amongst these people can be numbered certain local senior 

Figure 12.1 Patrick Pearse
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police of�cers who wrote comments such as: �These people are uneducated and 
Irish speaking and once roused are very wild and savage� and �The people there and 
all along the coast are a very savage race�.�6 For others, Connemara was a place of 
romance. They wished to stop the decline of the language and the loss of the culture. 
They viewed modern urban life as an un-natural phenomenon which oppressed 
people, although they were not opposed to modern developments and economic 
progress per se. They were Gaelic Leaguers who wished to teach the reading and 
writing of the language to adults in the Gaeltacht, to develop literature and to have 
state services available through the language. They understood that the language 
was in decline for economic reasons as well as cultural and historical ones and they 
wished to improve the quality of life of the community. They also hoped to spread 
the language to the non-Irish speaking areas on a long-term basis. Although the 
revivalists were constantly frustrated by the lack of progress in the Gaeltacht and 
breac-Ghaeltacht areas, some, at least in Connemara were attracted to the revival 
efforts. A branch of the Gaelic League was established on Inishmore at a very 
early stage. Another illustration of this point is that PÆdraic Ó DomhnallÆin was 
teaching Irish to a class of eighty people in Oughterard when he met Patrick Pearse 
for the �rst time.7

The west was regarded as a disappointment by Gaelic Leaguers, however. There 
were several reasons for this. Few of the local middle class, for example, had 
much respect for the language. It was said of An SpidØal in 1901: �Most of the 
shopkeepers, most of those who had made a little money, used English, even if 
they knew Irish, while they took care not to handicap their children in the race 
of life by letting them acquire any Irish.�8 This had also been the experience of the 
republican PÆdraic Ó Conaire in Ros Muc. In comparison to those around them, 
his relations there were faring well. English was the language they spoke at home.9 
Gaeltacht people were criticised for leaving most of the work to save the language 
to learners and, worse still, for showing those learners disrespect.10 There were 
various reasons for the lack of progress. Historically, every state institution and 
nearly all economic and ecclesiastical institutions had driven Irish speakers towards 
English. It was believed that Irish would hold people back in America. It did not 
help the language movement that there was a natural divide between many of the 
Irish language tourists and those communities they visited. No doubt, visitors who 
imagined the local community to be a learning aid tainted the relationship. The 
movement towards English continued as the investment in tourism that learners 
of Irish could bring was tiny in comparison to the vast economic problems in the 
west of Ireland and to the economic and cultural power of English. 

Another dif�culty the Irish language faced was the lack of interest in it by many 
in politics and the lack of understanding of English-speakers in Gaeltacht areas of 
the harm they were doing when they were unwilling to learn the language. In 1920, 
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the republican journalist TomÆs BairØad, a native speaker from Maigh Cuilinn 
complained of fellow republicans: 

We often wonder does the average Irishman who prates about Sinn FØin and 
an Irish Republic ever portray in his mind the spectacle of an Ireland free and 
independent bereft of a national language?11

When an attempt was made to pressure Sinn FØin in Connemara not to select 
monoglot English speakers as candidates, the idea did not receive support: �they 
were nearly all in agreement against it� despite there being thousands of inhabitants 
in the area who spoke no English. A commentator in the republican newspaper, 
the Galway Express challenged Sinn FØiners: �If they are opposed to it (Irish), it is 
time there was a �ght between Sinn FØin and the supporters of Irish.�12

Nationalism emerged from various sources and one of the most important was 
the oral tradition, a tradition which was very strong in Connemara. National and 
local events were discussed in that culture. The blind poet Raftery had a poem 
of more than 400 lines describing Irish history.13 His poetry was well known as 
the Volunteers of the revolutionary age were growing up. As a result of their oral 
tradition, the community viewed itself as part of a race that extended beyond the 
local community. Songs from all over the country were sung in Connemara and, 
although most were non-political, others were critical of the state or recalled old 
con�icts.14 Previous rebellions may be taken as an example. The �rst republican 
rebellion in Ireland was that of 1798 when the United Irishmen rose up against 
British Rule. Although no signi�cant rebel activity occurred in County Galway, 
there were executions and Connemara was an important refuge for defeated 
republicans for a number of years following the rebellion. The community retained 
folk memory of these events.15 

The next major revolutionary organisation was the Irish Republican Brotherhood, 
or the Fenians as they were commonly known. The fathers of Petie McDonnell 
in Leenane16 and of Colm Ó Gaora in Ros Muc were Fenians. Indeed one of Ó 
Gaora�s ancestors had also been active in the 1798 Rebellion.17 McDonnell and 
Ó Gaora were both senior IRA of�cers in the republican movement during the 
period 1913-23. Land agitation also had a huge effect on republicans in Galway. In 
Ceantar na nOileÆn, the campaign to have the land divided was the stuff of daily 
family conversation in the Standœn household because of the family�s connection 
with it. Gearóid was later one of the most important of�cers in the IRA in south 
Connemara.18 In another case, the Hynes family was evicted in Maigh Cuilinn. To 
make matters worse, the landlord had waited until the Hynes had �nished planting 
before evicting them. The family moved into Galway city where two of the sons 
were active in the republican movement.19 
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The relationship between nationalists and the Royal Irish Constabulary, the RIC, 
was unusual. It may be that the courts rather than the police were a greater source 
of concern for people. Folklore about people who had been executed because 
of murders relating to land, for instance Maolra Seoighe from MÆm Trasna and 
PÆdraig Breathnach from Letterfrack in the 1880s was retained.20 It was felt that 
people were wrongly convicted in cases of that sort quite often and many Irish 
language proverbs were disparaging of the court system: �Is iomaí duine a chrochtar 
san Øagóir�; �MÆ thØann tœ chun dlí, bíodh bonn i do phóca�; �MÆ thØann tœ chun na 
cœirte, fÆg d�anam sa mbaile.�21 Although ancestral con�icts were raised when it was 
politically opportune, members of the police force were respected in the community 
in which they served. Despite that, con�ict could erupt very quickly between the 
community and the force about land. Most of the policemen were from nationalist 
families themselves and the most common complaint of republicans concerned 
the manner in which the law was enforced when republicans were under attack 
from supporters of the Irish Parliamentary Party. On one occasion, Colm Ó Gaora 
was beaten in Letterfrack by members of the Ancient Order of Hibernians, an 
organisation which shared much of its membership with the Irish Parliamentary 
Party. The policemen who were present made no attempt to stop the attack.22 
Later, as republicanism increased in popularity, some of the policemens� families 
came to identify with republicanism. This re�ects these families being part of the 
general community rather than separated from them. The republican priest, An 
t-Athair Mac Giolla Sheannaigh in An SpidØal23 was a policeman�s son. Volunteers 
John Geoghegan in Maigh Cuilinn, Eugene Gillan in An Cheathrœ Rua, Pat Mons 
in Oughterard and the Bartleys in Clifden were sons of policemen.24 

Unionists, most of whom were Protestants, held to the belief that remaining in 
the British Empire and the United Kingdom represented Ireland�s best interests. A 
Catholic member of the upper-class, Lord Killanin, a landlord in the An SpidØal 
area, was a Unionist.25 There was a small Protestant community in Connemara 
(mainly in the area around Clifden) and there were ancestral tensions between 
themselves and local Catholics concerning attempts by both sides to convert 
people. By the turn of the twentieth century, much of the religious bitterness 
had dissipated in the region as it was clear that the Catholic Church had won the 
battle. Not all Protestants in Connemara were Unionists and their religion did not 
prevent the Protestants Alfred and Percy Ward in Roundstone, Edgar and Bertie 
King in Carna, Thomas Pollington (and probably a brother of his) in Ballinakill 
(west Connemra) from joining the Volunteers.26

By 1912, Home Rule was in the of�ng. Ulster Unionists threatened rebellion rather 
than yield to a Dublin parliament. The Ulster Volunteers were formed to �ght to 
ensure partition. In response, the Irish Volunteers were formed to �ght to ensure 
32 county Home Rule. The �rst local meeting of the Irish Volunteers was held 
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in Galway in December 1913. At 
the launch, radicals Pearse, Roger 
Casement, Eoin MacNeill and 
George Nicolls gave speeches. 
TomÆs Ó  MÆille, brother of 
PÆdraic, was secretary of the 
meeting.27 Although Home Rulers 
gained control of the organisation 
nationally and, to a point, locally 
in Galway, it was republicans 
who made the greatest effort to 
spread the Volunteers. Pearse was 
involved in the foundation of 
groups of Volunteers in Ros Muc, 
An Cheathrœ Rua and Ceantar 
na nOileÆn. He also drilled the 
Volunteers in An SpidØal.28 An 
attempt was made to acquire 
German arms and information 
was collected about the best places 
to bring them ashore. In 1918 an 
informer wrote to the police: �In 
July 1914, just before the war, they (Ó MÆille) with Roger Casement, accompanied 
a German Professor through Connemara visiting all the important harbours from 
An Cheathrœ Rua to Leenane.�29 Casement apparently regretted that the Germans 
did not attempt to land in An Cheathrœ Rua instead of Kerry during Easter Week. 
While preparing for his own death, he commented on the con�dence he had in the 
people of the locality being willing to help him and to give him sanctuary.30

When the First World War broke out the Irish Parliamentary Party strongly 
supported the British war effort and some local party �gures were closely involved 
with recruitment. William O�Malley, MP for Connemara, paid heaviest for his 
recruitment efforts when his own son, Willie, was killed �ghting in France in 
1917.31 People ended up in the British Army for reasons of patriotism, poverty, 
family tradition, service in the reserve, economic factors and as a means of escaping 
normal life. There were, however, constant complaints throughout the war about 
the reluctance of rural people to enlist, a pattern which was also observed in 
Connemara. O�Malley spoke at a recruitment meeting in Oughterard which three 
hundred people attended. None enlisted. A week later he spoke at a meeting in 
Clonbur with �ve hundred in attendance and no recruitment resulted from that 
meeting either.32 

Figure 12.2 Professor TomÆs Ó MÆille, Muintir Eoghain, 
became the �rst professor of Irish in University College 
Galway in 1909. He was a �rm supporter of the Volunteers in 
Connemara along with his brother, leading Volunteer  
PÆdraic Ó MÆille. Source: NUI Galway
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The Irish Volunteers split over the war, 
most agreeing that some sort of support 
should be given to Britain and its allies. The 
radical element retained the name The Irish 
Volunteers although the RIC began to call 
them the Sinn FØin Volunteers. Gradually, the 
radicals reorganised. The RIC reported that 
�Sinn FØiners� controlled or were partially 
supported by various companies, including 
those in An SpidØal and in Leenane.33 Liam 
Mellows and Ailbhe Ó MonachÆin were sent to 
Galway to reorganise the Volunteers following 
the split. Mellows had his headquarters in 
Killeeneen near Clarinbridge. Mellows spent 
much of his time with the Breathnach family, 
whose father was from Ros Muc. This family 
was extremely active during the Rising and 
its aftermath, especially Brighid.34 As well as 
Mellows, others were active in expanding the 
Volunteers locally. MícheÆl Ó DroighneÆin, 
a schoolteacher in Na Forbacha, established 
companies in Bearna and in Maigh Cuilinn.35 

In Leenane, the republican Petie McDonnell acted against the Ancient Order of 
Hibernians36 and then established a branch of the Ancient Order of Hibernians 
(Irish American Alliance). This was a splinter group which split from the larger 
AOH organisation because of conservatism and sectarianism. McDonnell used this 
group, which could procure guns, to train his men.37 Local of�cers were trained so 
that they could take charge of others. Petie McDonnell attended training camps 
in Cork and in Limerick.38 The case of Mark McDonagh from Maigh Cuilinn is 
a sign of the increased con�dence of the Volunteers. He was in charge of a group 
of volunteers who marched, deliberately, through a recruiting meeting in Maigh 
Cuilinn. McDonagh was sentenced to three months imprisonment.39

As Easter Sunday drew closer, the leaders of the Volunteers began to draw up plans 
and to inform people of the rising. In August 1915, MícheÆl Ó DroighneÆin from An 
SpidØal was told of it when Pearse informed him of the plan at ColÆiste Chonnacht.40 
Éamon Ceannt and MícheÆl Ó DroighneÆin made an arrangement that when the 
Rising was set to happen, Ceannt would send a note to Ó DroighneÆin asking �An 
bhfuair tœ amach fós an t-ainm atÆ ar an rud œd a chonaic muid sa gcladach ar an 25œ 
. . .� (Did you �nd out yet the name of that thing we saw on the shore on the 25th...?). 
The date in the note was an indication that the rising was to happen three days before 
that particular day of the month.41

Figure 12.3 MícheÆl Ó DroighneÆin,  
Na Forbacha, was one of a band of republicans 
from Connemara and Galway town arrested 
during Easter Week. He went on to become a 
senior Volunteer in South Connemara during the 
War of Independence. Source: Galway Advertiser
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One way the leadership had of studying the organisation, while also putting the 
authorities at their ease regarding volunteers gathering together, was to call mass 
rallies. A number of these were held in County Galway, the last of them on St Patrick�s 
Day 1916. That rally was held in Galway and the volunteers of the city and of the 
surrounding areas, those from An SpidØal included, took part in a large parade. 
The Leenane Volunteers took part in a parade of the Ancient Order of Hibernians 
(Irish-American Alliance) held in Westport, probably as a result of the distance 
to Galway. However, when they saw a man in Volunteer uniform - The O�Rahilly  
(a senior of�cer from Dublin) - they left their own gathering to listen to him speak42. 

The mass meetings also helped the republicans to create an atmosphere which 
would increase the volunteers� will to �ght. Returning from a rally in Athenry, Mark 
McDonagh, Captain of the Volunteers in Maigh Cuilinn, commented: �Beidh sØ ina 
chogadh a bhuachaillí, nÆr lØir ar chaint agus ar chœrsaí an lae inniu Ø.�43(There 
will be war, lads, isn�t it evident from the talk and actions of today?) The largest 
demonstration organised by the republicans was the funeral of O�Donovan Rossa 
in Dublin. People travelled from all over the country to Glasnevin for the occasion. 
Among them was a group from Ros Muc who heard Patrick Pearse give the graveside 
oration. It was in Ros Muc that Pearse had written his speech.44 

East Galway was chosen as the centre for the rebellion in Galway as it was the 
area in which the Volunteers had made most progress. It is not clear what plan 
exactly had been laid out for the Volunteers in Connemara. Brian Molloy from 
An CaisleÆn Gearr recalled that rather than have them come through the town of 
Galway, it was arranged that the Volunteers from An SpidØal and Maigh Cuilinn 
would be transferred in boats across Lough Corrib to support the uprising on the 
eastern side rather than engage with the Crown Forces on their own side of the 
lake. Tom Courtney, a champion rower, was in charge of organising the boats.45 On 
the other hand, TomÆs BairØad, a member of the Maigh Cuilinn volunteers wrote 
that the volunteers in his area were to take command of the local RIC barracks in 
their own place, join up with the Volunteers from Bearna and from An SpidØal 
and then march on Galway.46 The �nal despatches were sent to people during the 
days immediately prior to the Rising. It seems women performed much of that 
work. Peig Conlon, a member of Cumann na mBan in Dublin, was sent to bring 
a despatch to MícheÆl Ó DroighneÆin. She was a Galway woman and an Irish 
speaker, but it is not clear if those were factors in her selection for that task.47

Then Eoin MacNeill, leader of the Volunteers, a person who had been kept unaware 
of the conspiracy, attempted to cancel the Rising. When his countermanding order 
went throughout the country the Rising was weakened critically. Nevertheless, the 
conspirators decided to proceed with the Rising through issuing their own order 
also and delivering it as extensively as they could. They failed to make contact in 
some cases. Petie McDonnell wrote: 
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�During Easter Week 1916 West Galway 
was completely cut off from the rest 
of the country, and no information - 
except rumour - could be had as to what 
was happening, and no instructions 
were received.�48

The �ghting broke out in Dublin 
on Easter Monday. The GPO was 
headquarters for the rebels. Among the 
volunteers there was Brian Joyce from 
`rainn, one of Pearse�s pupils in Scoil 
Éanna in Dublin.49 Another Aran Islander 
who took part was John O�Brien. On the 
south side of the city, Katie Kelly from 
Cashel, a member of Cumann na mBan, 
was active in the �ghting at the College 
of Surgeons/Stephen�s Green.50 People 

from Connemara were also found in the forces opposing the volunteers. Peter 
Folan from An SpidØal was a member of the RIC based in Dublin Castle. He was 
con�ned to the Castle for a week and was eyewitness to one of the �rst shootings 
of the Rising.51 Another person from Connemara who saw service in the RIC 
during the Rising was Frank King, apparently from the Oughterard area. He was 
amongst the policemen who raided the Kent family in Cork. A police of�cer was 
killed in this incident as was one of the Kents. Another member of the family 
was later executed.52

Because of the contradictory orders, there was no certainty that any action would 
be undertaken in Galway. MícheÆl Ó DroighneÆin wrote about the uncertainty 
created by all the different orders:

�At 6 o� clock on Monday morning, a knock came to the door and I got up. Peter 
Fagan (Bearna) had come on horse-back with the message back from Dublin, by 
John Hosty: �The rising is off, don�t make any move�. I told my brother the news. I 
stayed around the house all day, and at 4 o� clock in the afternoon George Nicholls 
and Liam Langley came to the house with another message - which Liam had 
brought from Dublin. The message read - �we have begun at noon today, carry out 
your orders - Pearse�. Nicholls and I had a consultation about the matter and before 
he left we had decided that we would do nothing until we got more information.�53

But, when Mellows decided to rebel, he sent messages to Kinvara, Oranmore, 
Galway, Maigh Cuilinn, Baile ChlÆir and An CaisleÆn Gearr.54 Apart from the 

Figure 12.4 Colm Ó Gaora. Source: Reproduced 
from Prionsias Mac Aonghusa, Rosmuc agus 
Cogagh na Saoirse
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areas around Oranmore and Clarinbridge, most of the Volunteers in the county 
stayed out of the con�ict. �What�s the use against the army without guns?� said 
the republican PÆdraig Ó DroighneÆin in Maigh Cuilinn when he was given the 
despatch. Although Ó DroighneÆin is mentioned as captain of the volunteers 
there,55 he had no signi�cant role in the volunteers. It was because of his role in the 
IRB and his work in the Gaelic League that he was well known and the despatch 
from Mellows went to the wrong person.56 

With rumours around the country about what was happening exactly, some 
volunteers tried to contact those who had risen. The Volunteers from Bearna 
and Maigh Cuilinn assembled during the Rising but, with the captain of the 
Volunteers in Maigh Cuilinn imprisoned in Dublin and the founder of the 
Volunteers in Bearna, MícheÆl Ó DroighneÆin, locked up in Galway, nothing 
happened.57 Ó DroighneÆin had gone into the town to �nd out what was 
happening. He was informed that a Rising had happened in east Galway but he 
was arrested before he could inform his men.58 Colm Ó Gaora attempted to go to 
east Galway through Cong but was arrested.59 Petie McDonnell went to Newport 
in Mayo to see if the volunteers there knew more about what was happening 
in the country but they knew as little as himself.60 In other cases, people ended 
up taking part in the Rising simply because they happened to be in a particular 
place. For instance, men from Connemara, probably labourers, became involved 
in the Rising in Clarinbridge: 

�A couple of Connemara men who were working with Mattie Niland were among 
the Volunteers. Mattie asked the Connemara men if they were coming. They said, 
�Where are you going?� He replied, �To �ght for Ireland�. �If you are going sticking 
peelers we are with you�, said the Connemara lads. They were put in charge of the 
police prisoners whom they would not let sit down. They said, �If you caught us at 
the potheen you�d tell us to keep stirring�.61 

The Easter Rising greatly shocked the Establishment and the Irish Parliamentary 
Party or as PÆdraic Ó MÆille said: �The foreigners and their followers in the city of 
Galway were shaken and in fear.� Even before the Rising had ended, it was appreciated 
that a change had taken place in Irish life. One of the most important things was that 
it had been shown that nationalists had a choice between the Home Rule Party and 
the radicals. One of the insults most commonly used against republicans was that 
they weren�t manly enough to �ght. Easter Week put an end to that for as PÆdraic Ó 
MÆille said, �Gaels during those days showed the world their manliness�. At �rst the 
public did not know what the rebels were �ghting for. When PÆdraic Ó MÆille was 
arrested the policeman referred to the Kaiser and assumed that the republicans were 
acting on behalf of the Germans (and for their money). The republican badge was 
angrily torn from his coat and trampled underfoot by the policeman. 62 
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The British Forces were not con�dent enough to deal with the republicans where 
they were strong and focused early in the week on arresting those it was easy to 
arrest. They held them in naval vessels which were anchored in Galway Bay. The 
most important of these vessels was the Laburnum. The prisoners had a poor 
opinion of their lodgings. PÆdraic Ó MÆille wrote about that same ship: �The 
captain was a really bad devil. His name was Alwright.� The sailors on board had 
little respect for the captain either and one of those on guard duty said to his 
prisoners that All-wrong would be a more appropriate name. This vessel served a 
function other than that of prison ship. It was from this boat that shells were �red 
at the Galway rebels resulting in holes and dead cattle.63 The �ghting soon came to 
an end and it was through notices posted by the RIC in Leenane that people of that 
area found out about the end to hostilities in Dublin.64

The question now was who would be arrested and who would serve prison 
sentences. This depended greatly on the Authorities locally, the attitude of the RIC 
and to whom they paid attention following the Rising. In Maigh Cuilinn, TomÆs 
BairØad assumed it was the relaxed, understanding local sergeant who kept villagers 
out of prison. He only required that ammunition be surrendered.65 In Leenane, 
Petie McDonnell felt that he himself avoided a period of internment because of 
a local Protestant clergyman who spoke on his behalf.66 Just as their predecessors 
had done, the defeated rebels viewed Connemara as a sanctuary from the state 
authorities. Mick Newell and Brian Molloy from An CaisleÆn Gearr attempted to 
travel there after the Rising but they were caught.67 The arrested prisoners were 
sent to Frongoch or to normal jails. Among the people connected to Connemara 
who served prison sentences were a MícheÆl Ó MaolÆin from `rainn who was 
sent to Frongoch.68 Brian Joyce and John O�Brien from `rainn, PÆdraic Ó MÆille, 
MícheÆl Ó DroighneÆin, Conchubhair Ó Laoghaire from Casla and a man named 
Stephen Larkin from Ceantar na nOileÆn were also sent there. Colm Ó Gaora 
received a prison sentence because he could be charged on more speci�c grounds. 

There was a range of opinions and reactions to the Rising among the people of 
Connemara. One man who was hated by republicans because of his behaviour was 
MÆirtín Mór McDonogh, the city-based capitalist who was originally from Ceantar 
na nOileÆn: ��is Ø a ghríos an Pílear Heard� (it was he who prompted Peeler Heard) 
was the line in one republican song about him where he was accused of encouraging 
the RIC to imprison radicals.69 The schoolteacher Patrick Joyce in Bearna joined 
the special constabulary established in Galway to help the authorities suppress the 
rebellion.70 Others sympathised with the republicans and did not want to see them 
attacked. When he was on his way to be incarcerated in Britain, the train on which 
Mick Newell was travelling stopped in Nottingham. The crowd started to threaten 
them. One of the soldiers guarding the prisoners hit three people in the crowd 
and started to shout: �Up Carraroe, Up Connemara.� John Keane was the soldier�s 
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name and it appears he was killed in the War.71 In the case of PÆdraic Ó Conaire, 
the Rising was the inspiration for his book Seacht mBua an Éirí Amach and he was 
one of those people who tried to explain what had come about. In many others, 
the Easter Rising tapped into radical sympathies which they were surprised to �nd 
within them in many cases. John C. King had been brought up in Leenane by an 
uncle who was apprehensive about radical organisations, King attended a school 
in which loyalists were teaching and the British Forces and their contentions with 
the Germans were: �the greatest of excitement coming into our dull country life�, 
but then news reached them that a rising was underway. He described how  he  
felt as follows: 

�The first feeling of awakening came to me around Easter Monday, 1916, 
as I was doing some marketing in a loyalist shop in Leenane. A fellow came 
in who was a servant of some of the English land-holders about the district, 
and. he was very excited. He said that Sinn FØiners had risen in Dublin and 
were spreading all over the country, and that the participants would be shot 
or hanged, as they were all in the pay of the Kaiser. I had a mile and a half to 
walk home and a lot of time to think of those strange men who dared to attack 
the great British Empire (not at war). I felt a funny feeling deep down in my 
stomach, and I could not stop the tears coming into my eyes.� 72 

There were many others like John C. King. Connemara was more republican than 
most of the country in the period which followed the Easter Rising although 
the remoteness, poverty and lack of military experience limited the amount of 
republican violence which took place. PÆdraic Ó MÆille was easily elected as T.D. 
in the 1918 election. The republican courts and the volunteers operated in the area 
with the will and support of the public, even if that support was not universal. Even 
during the Civil War, the forces of the Free State found it dif�cult to catch senior 
republicans until the end of the con�ict, an indication that the people were willing 
to provide sanctuary and to keep their mouths shut. Echoes from that era are still 
to be heard in the region to this day. Perhaps the Irish language is one of them. The 
football club in Ros Muc was named after the Pearse brothers and Patrick Pearse 
and Colm Ó Gaora are held in esteem in the area to this day. ColÆiste Chonnacht is 
still open in An SpidØal. The local drama group in Carraroe is named after Ruairí 
Mac Easmainn (Roger Casement). A commemorative garden has been constructed 
in Na Forbacha for those who were executed for their role in the Rising. Despite 
that, as is the case regarding most of those who fought for and against the Rising, 
their memory has been allowed to wane by the majority of people. In the case of 
others, their memory is invoked only for contemporary political advantage. It is 
hoped that publications such as this one will help people gain an appreciation of 
this critical period in the country�s history so that we see those who took part (and 
didn�t take part) as people again, rather than as symbols.
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Note: The author submitted the text for this chapter in the Irish language originally 
and it was translated into English.
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Looking back, Galway County Council in 1916
Patria McWalter

Despite being in the midst of World War I, the local authorities of County 
Galway were functioning relatively well in 1916, with little or no reference 
in their minutes to the dreadful happenings at Flanders and beyond. 

Galway County Council and its subordinate Rural District Councils, established 
under the Local Government Act of 1898, continued to attempt to collect rates 
and provide services at the time. These included the provision of public works, 
such as roads and bridges, labourers� cottages, water and sewerage schemes and the 
management of burial grounds, to name but a few of their functions. Meanwhile, 
the Poor Law Unions, established under the Poor Relief (Ireland) Act, 1838 (for 
the �more effectual Relief of the Destitute Poor in Ireland�), provided indoor and 
outdoor relief to the poor, together with dispensary health services. The towns of 
Galway and Ballinasloe were urban districts, and had the power to collect a general 
rate, and so were effectively independent from Galway County Council. 

The Tuam Herald reported that the newly elected Council, which consisted of 35 
members, comprised

... a fair representation of property, profession and politics. It contains a 
landlord, a Unionist Catholic barrister and writer, three solicitors, a college 
professor and medical doctor, three merchants, an auctioneer, and seventeen 
or eighteen tenant farmers. The 10 chairmen elected by the district councils 
and the nominated grand jurors with the co-opted men should make and 
will, we are sure, a very respectable body for Galway as good as any in Ireland 
we should be inclined to say ...�.1

At its �rst meeting, held in April 1899, Galway County Council proclaimed

That we the County Council of the County Galway at this our first meeting 
do pledge ourselves to the principal of Home Rule and earnestly urge on Her 
Majesty�s Government the necessity of granting legislative independence 
to Ireland in order to enable the Irish people to make their own laws and 
manage their own affairs in harmony with the wishes of the great majority 
of the population.

That we only regard the Local Government Act as an instalment of justice to 
prepare our people for the larger and more comprehensive measure of autono-
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my which is the only scheme that will ever satisfy the hopes and aspirations of 
our people and make us a happy, prosperous and contented nation.2 

This resolution thus set out Galway County Council�s stall, as it were.

A History of Galway Council, by Gabriel O�Connor, was published in 1999 by 
Galway County Council to commemorate its centenary.3 This provides good 
background information on the establishment of Galway�s local authorities and 
a detailed history of Galway County Council�s early years. For the Record. The 
Archives of Galway�s Rural District Councils, published by the Council in 2014,4 
provides similar detail on the Rural District Councils. The approach in this essay 
therefore is to skip forward to 1916 and to trace the actions and deliberations of 
Galway County Council during that one pivotal year in Ireland�s long history of 
striving for political independence. It will also look brie�y at some of the concerns 
of the Rural District Councils during that time. The essay relies almost exclusively 
on the various councils� minutes. 

It is worth mentioning that in the years preceding 1916 Galway County Council 
(which until 1920 comprised primarily of members and supporters of the Irish 
Parliamentary Party), passed some political resolutions, generally in support of 
Home Rule. It also supported the Irish language movement and tenant rights. 
Despite the enactment of various land acts in the preceding years, land agitation 
was widespread in the county; �Galway was one of the more lawless parts of the 
island, due to agrarian agitation.�5
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Galway County Council also supported the Rural District Councils� efforts to 
provide better housing for the labouring classes and through these Councils 
also made progress with the installation of water pumps in many parishes and 
communities throughout county. This, together with improvements in sanitation, 
had a positive impact on health and the reduction in certain diseases, such as 
typhoid, though tuberculosis (TB) continued to rage for several decades more. 

An example of one of its political resolutions, passed after the establishment of the 
Ulster Volunteer Force and the subsequent founding of the Irish Volunteers, stated, 

... that the time has come when every effort should be made to organise 
the Irish Volunteer force in every Parish in Ireland. We are convinced that 
such a force, wisely led by men in whom our indomitable leader Mr John 
E. Redmond, MP, would have confidence, would prove to the world that the 
manhood of Ireland are ready to do their part in defence of their homes and 
their liberties, and if need be to protect our fellow Nationalists in Ulster from 
insult and attack.6

A short time later Galway County Council, while rejoicing at the passage of the 
Home Rule Bill in September 1914 following the split in the Irish Volunteers, also 
supported Redmond�s call for the establishment of an Irish Brigade and resolved

... to adopt the term of the Treasury Regulations for Civil Servants and to pay 
County Council Employees, absent on Naval or Military Service their full salaries, 
less Army or Navy pay as sanctioned by the Local Government Board ... 7

Mr John McDonnell of Waterslade House, Tuam, was the Chairman at this 
time. He was a Roman Catholic merchant with substantial land holdings in the 
Dunmore, Headford and Tuam districts. He had been elected chairman in June 
1914, following the local elections of 27 May 1914,8 and served as such until he 
was replaced by the republican Mr George Nicholls,9 in 1920. Nicholls, a Dublin 
born solicitor working in G.C. Conroy�s of�ce (Francis Street, Galway) was in 1916 
a prominent Sinn FØin sympathiser, President of the Galway Irish Volunteers and 
Head Centre of the Galway Branch of the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB).10 
Being a well-known member of the Irish Volunteers Galway City Corps he was 
among the �rst arrested when hostilities broke out during Easter week 1916, so he 
was not in active military service during the Rising.

Galway County Council�s Secretary, Walter Gordon Seymour,11 was away from 
November 1914 until the end of World War I, on active military service with the 
British army. Therefore, William Fogarty12, the Council�s accountant, who was a 
member of the Irish National Volunteers, was Acting County Secretary. 
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Council meetings were held in the Courthouse in Galway.13 

At the beginning of 1916 the Council was pre-occupied with the publication of the 
Jurors� List. It was also anxious to ensure road repairs and maintenance works would 
be carried out by direct labour, thus providing employment for men at local level.

Galway County Council minutes for 2 February 1916 include a newspaper cutting 
recording the Council�s warm address of welcome to Ivory Churchill Guest,14 Lord 
Lieutenant of Ireland, during his �rst visit to the West of Ireland the previous 
month to attend a recruiting conference at the Town Hall in Galway. The visit was, 
according to a Connacht Tribune report of 5 January, greeted with much fanfare 
and ceremony, including a Guard of Honour of the Irish National Volunteers and 
another by the Royal Irish Constabulary (RIC). Addresses were also presented to His 
Excellency by the Galway Urban District Council, the Harbour Commissioners and 
the Governing Body of University College, Galway. The Acting County Secretary for 
Galway County Council, William Fogarty, read the address, which stated: 

Your Excellency comes to us in a time of national crisis, and for a purpose 
connected with that crisis. Our Co. and the whole Western Province have 
responded nobly to the call of patriotism, duty and honour, and have given 
generously their dearest and best to the Empire in its hour of need.

We believe that the happy change which has taken place in the mutual 
sentiments of the Irish people and their neighbours will be of a lasting nature, 
and, that the legislative expression of this change will enable Ireland to pursue 
to a happy realisation her national, social, and intellectual ideals - loyal to her 
Sovereign and to herself, and to the Imperial family of nations of which she 
is a free member; we also believe that the honour, the safety, and the material 
prosperity of Ireland call to Irishmen of every class to do what in-them lies to 
ensure a speedy and decisive victory for the Allies in the present war.

It further stated that, 

There are many matters which, under other circumstances, we would be 
glad to bring to Your Excellency�s notice - many urgent calls for the removal 
of agricultural, social, transport, and harbour difficulties under which our 
constituents suffer - but we recognise that the successful conduct of the war 
now overshadows all other considerations ... 15 

At the subsequent meeting, which was the Council�s Quarterly Meeting, held on 
6 February, it discussed the estimates for 1916/17 and ongoing public works. It 
also discussed the attempt to �� oust Dr J. Pye from his position as Registrar 
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of University College, Galway�. The Council stated that Pye would have been 
College President many years earlier if it were not for the fact he was an Irish 
Nationalist Home Ruler. It resolved that, if Dr Pye was removed from his position, 
Galway County Council would not send a member to sit on its Governing 
Body and �will discontinue the grant from the Galway County Council rates for  
College purposes�.16 

With the �great expense incurred in the upkeep of ten [Poor Law] Unions� and the 
decrease in numbers accommodated in the workhouses in the county, the Council 
also discussed and appointed a committee to review and draw up a Scheme of 
Union Amalgamation.17 

At the time there were, for instance, about 62 inmates in the Clifden Poor Law 
Union workhouse, reduced from just over 100 in 1906, 160 inmates in the Tuam 
workhouse, with a similar number in early 1906. There were 80 in the Loughrea 
workhouse, reduced from an average of 125 for January and February in 1906, and 
100 in Gort, reduced from about 160 ten years earlier, while Mountbellew in 1906 
had approximately 60-68 inmates, but had 70-75 in 1915.18 However, the decline 
in numbers was likely to be �due to emigration and the perceived stigma attached 
to it [relief], rather than any improvement in conditions�.19

At the same meeting, the maintenance of various courthouses around the county 
was discussed as well as the schedule of tolls for Cleggan Pier and the election of a 
temporary County Surveyor. 

The next set of minutes is the proceedings of the Proposal Committee, which was 
a quarterly meeting, held on 3 May 1916, the same day PÆdraig Mac Piarais was 
executed. In attendance were Councillors James McDonnell (Chairman), Martin 
McDonagh,20 Thomas C. McDonagh, John Lohan, Edward King, J.M. Lyden, 
Michael Joyce, M. Morrissey, Patrick Dermody, James J. Hoban, John McKeigue, 
Thomas Fahy, James Cosgrave and John Morris. 

The Council commenced by discussing proposals for payment, such as for works 
to the County Buildings, and a vote of sympathy to the family of the late John 
Moran, County Surveyor, following his recent death. The Council then, like so 
many other local authorities and institutions throughout the country at that time, 
proceeded to issue a resolution condemning the actions of the Irish Volunteers and 
the Citizen Army around the country, but did not make any speci�c reference to 
the activities of the Volunteers in the district surrounding Galway. Nor is there any 
reference to the arrest, along with other prominent Volunteers in the city, of one of 
its own clerks, Seamus Carter,21 who was secretary to the Volunteers.22 & 23 
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Carter signed in for work with 
Galway County Council on 19 April 
1916, but his name does not appear 
in a Clerk�s Attendance Book again 
until 24 November 1916.24 In July 
1916, the Acting County Secretary 
advised the Finance Committee that 
�as a consequence of the arrest of Mr 
Carter, Roads Clerk, he had placed 
Mr O�Connor in charge of this work 
and paid him 5/- extra per week�.25

The Connacht Tribune of 6 May gives 
a more detailed account of the Council�s proceedings but does not include an 
extract of the resolution of condemnation. The resolution, which was proposed 
by the Chairman, Councillor James McDonnell, and seconded by Councillor 
Martin McDonagh reads that

Galway County Council desires to express its condemnation of the recent 
disturbances of social order brought about by irresponsible persons whereby 
great damage has been done to the material prosperity and prospects of 
Ireland, and numbers of simple uneducated peasants have been cajoled and 
threatened into open defiance of the Law.

We resent most of all the outrage upon the honour, and dignity of Ireland and 
the attempt which has been made to dishonour her pledge solemnly given by 
her responsible leader Mr Redmond.

Figure 13.1 Galway County Council Minutes, 3 May 1916, GC1/2, p700.

Figure 13.2 Galway County Council Staff Attendance 
Book, with Carter�s signature (signed in Irish), 24 
November 1916, GC/7/10.
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We rejoice that this dastardly attempt has failed, and that the people of 
Ireland have shown by their conduct in this crises that Ireland is determined 
that her word shall be carefully kept.

We tender to Mr Redmond the fullest assurances of our sympathy and support 
in the present trying circumstances.26 

The meeting was due to �the existing circumstances� almost immediately 
thereafter adjourned.

Following elections in 1920, when the Council was replaced by a predominantly 
republican one and presided over by George Nicholls (who had been arrested at 
the same time as Carter during Easter Week), the resolution was rescinded at a 
meeting in June that year. At that same meeting the Council also pledged allegiance 
to DÆil Éireann, condemned the imprisonment of James Larkin, and also resolved 
that minutes of the transactions of Galway County Council would no longer be 
forwarded to the British Local Government Board.27

Galway County Council�s next meeting was held on 17 May 1916, when the 
minutes of the previous adjourned meeting were accepted. Proposals for work and 
various payments were discussed and agreed, rate collection and refunds and the 
amalgamation of the Poor Law Unions were also discussed. Reports from the Rural 
District Councils on a variety of issues, including direct labour schemes and the 
making of public roads, were submitted and approved. Other topics, as diverse 
as driving licences, sheep dipping and advertising the post of County Surveyor, 
were also raised. The sale of Maam Courthouse to the Council was approved. A 
resolution from the Galway Rural District Council, calling for an inquiry into the 
costs of running the �District Lunatic Asylum in Ballinasloe�, was read, as was one 
from the Clifden Council condemning the action of Dublin Castle �in their efforts 
to perpetrate a system of extra policing in the County�.28

In addition, a resolution relating to political prisoners, proposed by Councillor 
Morris and seconded by Councillor O�Malley, was passed, calling for a general 
amnesty. It stated that

� we the Members of the Galway County Council request His Majesty�s 
Government to grant a general amnesty to all the prisoners deported from 
this county seeing that nine-tenths of the people of Ireland disassociated 
themselves from the rebellion, and have already through their representatives 
Councils expressed their condemnation of it, and that the great majority of 
the rank and file who took part went out believing that they were only going 
on parade, and in complete ignorance of the gravity of the situation.
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That we consider the punishment already inflicted on the leaders is more 
than sufficient and more drastic than that inflicted on the South African 
Rebels, and that their further punishment by imprisonment or otherwise 
will not conduce to promote the better feeling which has existed mainly 
through the efforts of Mr Redmond and the Irish Party between this country 
and  England�.29

The next meeting was the Council�s Annual General Meeting, held on 4 June, 
at which McDonnell was re-elected Chairman. Councillor Peter J. O�Malley was 
elected Vice-Chairman, and members were appointed to various committees, such 
as the Ballinasloe Lunatic Asylum, Finance, County Buildings and Sanatorium 
Committees. Mr M.J. Kennedy was elected County Surveyor. 

At this meeting the Council 
issued a resolution calling 
for a munitions factory to be 
established in Galway, stating 
that the City of Galway �� is in 
need of some encouragement 
and entitled to a share of the 
expenditure on War Material�.30 
The campaign for the factory 
was ongoing throughout 1916. 
An 18-pounder shell factory was 
eventually established in Galway 
toward the end of 1917. 

The meeting also ordered that its 
resolution of 17 May relating to 
political prisoners be forwarded 
to the �Premier, Mr John 
Redmond, Sir John Maxwell31 and 
the Members of Parliament�.32 

The next meeting was held on 
1 August 1916. Mr G. Lee was 
appointed County Surveyor for 
the Eastern Division of the county. Rate collectors for various parts of the county 
were also appointed. Other general business issues, such as County uildings, 
courthouses, the amalgamation of the Unions, the purchase of quarries and so on, 
were also discussed. 

Figure 13.3 Letter from Munitions File, 19 December 1916,  
GC/CSO/3/2.
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The meeting of 16 August again discussed general business, such as rate collection, 
erection of a surgical ward for tuberculosis patients, setting of a speed limit of 
10 miles per hour for the towns of Athenry and Ballinasloe, breaches under the 
Disease of Animals Act, and walls and footpaths in Gort. 

A letter from James Carter, interned clerk (referred to above), was read but its 
content was not included in the minutes. However, the Connacht Tribune of 19 
August 1916 gives a good account of the debate among the Councillors relating 
to Carter�s appeal for his post to be held open for him and also to be paid for the 
duration of his absence. Councillor Fahy stated that the Council pay Mr Seymour 
(County Secretary) while he is away on active military service, so Carter should 
be treated in a similar manner. Other Councillors, including the Acting County 
Secretary, Fogarty, disagreed, the latter stated that �...a man is entitled to �ght for 
his county�, with Fahy responding �That is the very thing the other man [Carter] 
thinks he is doing�. The Council then decided to consider Carter�s case at a later 
date but resolved that �The County Council are of opinion that all the County 
Galway men interned should be released�.33 

Figure 13.4 Galway County Council Minutes, 3 May 1916, GC/1/2, p707.






























































































































































































































